UNIVERSITAT POLITÈCNICA DE CATALUNYA

Doctoral Program:

Automàtica, Robòtica i Visió

DOCTORAL THESIS

A SOCIO-TECHNICAL APPROACH FOR ASSISTANTS IN HUMAN-ROBOT COLLABORATION IN INDUSTRY 4.0

Luis Alejandro Chacón Encalada

Director: Cecilio Angulo Bahón Co-director: Pedro Ponsa Asensio

April 2022

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis.

I authorize Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya to lend this thesis to other institutions or individuals for the purpose of scholarly research.

Luis Alejandro Chacón Encalada

I further authorize Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya to reproduce this thesis by photocopying or by other means, in total or in part, at the request of other institutions or individuals for the purpose of scholarly research.

Luis Alejandro Chacón Encalada

Dedicated to my wife Luz Dary for having accompanied me throughout this time, and giving me her unconditional support, patience and love. To my son Sergio Alejandro for being her reason to show him the path of perseverance, perseverance and patience in life

Abstract

The introduction of technologies disruptive of Industry 4.0 in the workplace integrated through human cyber-physical systems causes operators to face new challenges. These are reflected in the increased demands presented in the operator's capabilities physical, sensory, and cognitive demands. In this research, cognitive demands are the most interesting. In this perspective, assistants are presented as a possible solution, not as a tool but as a set of functions that amplify human capabilities, such as exoskeletons, collaborative robots for physical capabilities, virtual and augmented reality for sensory capabilities. Perhaps chatbots and softbots for cognitive capabilities, then the need arises to ask ourselves: How can operator assistance systems 4.0 be developed in the context of industrial manufacturing? In which capacities does the operator need more assistance? From the current paradigm of systematization, different approaches are used within the context of the workspace in industry 4.0. Thus, the functional resonance analysis method (FRAM) is used to model the workspace from the sociotechnical system approach, where the relationships between the components are the most important among the functions to be developed by the human-robot team. With the use of simulators for both robots and robotic systems, the behavior of the variability of the human-robot team is analyzed. Furthermore, from the perspective of cognitive systems engineering, the workspace can be studied as a joint cognitive system, where cognition is understood as distributed, in a symbiotic relationship between the human and technological agents. The implementation of a case study as a human-robot collaborative workspace allows evaluating the performance of the human-robot team, the impact on the operator's cognitive abilities, and the level of collaboration achieved in the human-robot team through a set of metrics and proven methods in other areas, such as cognitive systems engineering, humanmachine interaction, and ergonomics. We conclude by discussing the findings and outlook regarding future research questions and possible developments.

Acknowledgements

It isn't easy to thank all the support received during these three years. However, I would like first to thank the directors, Prof. Cecilio Angulo and Prof Pere Ponsa, of whom I have received unconditional support in the development of this research.

Additionally, I would like to thank all those who contributed directly or indirectly to this work, including professors, students, and staff from the University of the Armed Forces ESPE and the Polytechnic University of Catalonia.

Contents

	Abs	stract	v
	Ack	mowledgements	V
1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	Motivation	1
	1.2	Problem Statement and Research Questions	5
		1.2.1 Research objectives	6
		1.2.2 Research Questions	7
	1.3	Publications	7
		1.3.1 Journal articles	7
		1.3.2 Chapters of Book	8
	1.4	Readers Guide	8
2	Sta	te of Art	9
	2.1	Industry 4.0 and Operator 4.0	9
	2.2	Socio-technical and Joint Cognitive System	3
	2.3	Human Cyber-Physical Systems	7
		2.3.1 Human roles in HCPS	9
	2.4	Cognition in Industry 4.0	0
		2.4.1 Cognition Human-Robot	6
		2.4.2 The Cognitive Design Problem: The FRAM Tool	8

	2.5	Metrics $\ldots \ldots 34$		
		2.5.1	Usability	34
		2.5.2	Mental Workload	36
3	Me	thodol	ogy	39
	3.1	Under	estand and specify context of use	40
	3.2	Specif	y the user requirements	41
	3.3	Produ	ace design solutions	42
		3.3.1	Value Sensitive Design	42
		3.3.2	Functional Resonance Analysis Methodology	45
		3.3.3	Environment Modelling and Simulation	47
		3.3.4	Experimental Setup: A Manual Assembly Task	48
		3.3.5	Activities Modelling for the Manual Assembly Task $\ . \ . \ .$	49
		3.3.6	Identifying variability	54
		3.3.7	Human-Robot Collaborative Workspace	57
	3.4	Evalu	ate the design solutions	67
		3.4.1	Sumative Evaluation	68
		3.4.2	Formative Evaluation by HRI Metrics	69
		3.4.3	Metrics for Product/Process Quality Evaluation: Variability .	72
		3.4.4	Usability Test Plan	74
		3.4.5	Collecting Metrics	81
		3.4.6	Cognitive Interaction	89
4	Re	sults c	of Experimentation	96
	4.1	Result	ts from simulated experiment	96
		4.1.1	Execution in a Simulated Environment	96
		4.1.2	Results on Task Indicators	99
	4.2	Result	ts from Heuristics Evaluation on HRCWE	102

4.3	Results from Real Experimentation on HRCWE $\hfill \ldots \hfill \ldots$		104
	4.3.1 Usability Results in the HCRWE		104
	4.3.2 Workload in HRCWE		. 113
	4.3.3 Mental Workload Results		. 114
	4.3.4 Task Performance Human-Robot Team		118
Dis	scussion		121
5.1	Methodology for assistant		. 121
5.2	FRAM design and simulation		. 121
	5.2.1 General Remarks		. 124
	5.2.2 Cognitive Agent Recommendation		. 125
5.3	Usability on Human-Robot		126
5.4	Cognitive workload		. 127
5.5	Task Performance of the Human-Cobot team		128
Cor	nclusions		131
6.1	Conclusions		. 131
6.2	Future lines		134
App	pendix		152
A 1	Participants Soloction		150
11.1			. 152
A.2	Statement of informed consent. Consent form		. 152 154
A.2 A.3	Statement of informed consent. Consent form Case Study	· · · · ·	152 154 155
A.2 A.3 A.4	Statement of informed consent. Consent form Case Study Demonstrations	• • • • •	. 152 154 155 155
A.2 A.3 A.4	Statement of informed consent. Consent form Case Study Demonstrations A.4.1 TOH5	· · · · ·	152 154 155 156 156
	 4.3 Distribution 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 Contemport 6.1 6.2 A p 	 4.3 Results from Real Experimentation on HRCWE	 4.3 Results from Real Experimentation on HRCWE 4.3.1 Usability Results in the HCRWE 4.3.2 Workload in HRCWE 4.3.3 Mental Workload Results 4.3.4 Task Performance Human-Robot Team 4.3.4 Task Performance Human-Robot Team 5.1 Methodology for assistant 5.2 FRAM design and simulation 5.2.1 General Remarks 5.2.2 Cognitive Agent Recommendation 5.3 Usability on Human-Robot 5.4 Cognitive workload 5.5 Task Performance of the Human-Cobot team 6.1 Conclusions 6.1 Conclusions 6.2 Future lines

List of Figures

1.1	Vision from the perspectives of automation and socio-technical systems	2
2.1	Changes in the role of the operator	10
2.2	Change in the role of the operator adapted from $[94]$	15
2.3	Cognitive work functions and cognitive processes	16
2.4	CPS vs HCPS model	17
2.5	Three dimensions of HCPS	18
2.6	Changes in Aid Cognitive from Traditional Industry to Industry 4.0 .	22
2.7	success or failure emerges from the variability of system performance	
	as a result of complex interactions and unexpected combinations of	
	actions	30
2.8	The resonance functional	31
2.9	Example of a HCPS	32
2.10	The FRAM model for a Pick and Place function ver1.0	33
2.11	The FRAM model for a Pick & Place function / Assignation functions	33
2.12	Definition usability by ISO9241	36
91	Mathadalam, fan nagaanak	40
0.1		40
3.2	Accessibility	44
3.3	Conformity	44
3.4	Human welfare	45

3.5	FRAM activity/function representation $[47]$ in order to graphically rep-	
	resent instances in a FRAM study.	46
3.6	Simulated layout of an assembly task	48
3.7	Product (Turning Mechanism) and assembly steps.	49
3.8	The assembly task as an instance of the model FRAM	51
3.9	Human robot collaboration [71]	60
3.10	Architecture model for human-robot collaboration adapted $[71]$	60
3.11	Products in HRWCE	61
3.12	Laboratory resources: the main task developed on a tablet and the	
	secondary collaborative task of assembly with the robot on the left in	
	the background	62
3.13	Human-robot collaborative workspace: Area 1 is on the left, with the	
	primary task, demanding cognitive skills. Area 2 is on the right, a	
	collaborative assembly task with low demanding cognitive and physical	
	skills	62
3.14	Digital version of the Tower of Hanoi with five disks (TOH5) task $\ .$.	64
3.15	Assembly process: on the left, the working area; on the right, the parts	
	to be assembled into the product	65
3.16	Cycle of work in the Collaborative Assembly task (CA) \hdots	66
3.17	Analyzing process variability in human-robot collaborative tasks and	
	task allocation.	73
3.18	Usability Test Plan for HWRCE.	75
3.19	Digital version of the Tower of Hanoi problem with five disks, named	
	ТОН5	80
3.20	Collaborative assembly elements in the secondary process. \ldots .	81
3.21	Organization of the dataset for the experimental study	82
3.22	Grade rankings of SUS scores adapted from [5]	83

85
87
90
91
93
94
102
102
104
105
105
108
110
114
117
120
122
157
157

List of Tables

2.1	Vision of physical and cognitive automation		
2.2	A comparison among several Human-Robot Interaction metrics. Columns		
	show the robotics approach, the interaction level, the employed metrics		
	and some particular features. H, R notation means human or robot		
	(traded), while H - R means human and robot (shared)	27	
3.1	The working environment with Operator 4.0 concept, adapted from[85]	41	
3.2	Workspace Characteristics	43	
3.3	Values from VSD for HWRCE.	44	
3.4	Aspects related to an <activity></activity>	46	
3.5	Function <assembly product=""></assembly>	51	
3.6	Function <operators></operators>	52	
3.7	Function Type defined as 'Human' for all the activities in the manual		
	assembly task.	52	
3.8	Function <operators></operators>	53	
3.9	Function Type defined as 'Technological' for all the activities in the		
	Scenario 2	53	
3.10	Function Type defined as 'Human' or 'Technological' depending on the		
	activities to be performed in the Scenario 3	54	
3.11	KPI quantitative variables definition	55	
3.12	Potential output variability for <i>Time</i> in Scenario 1	56	

3.13	Potential output variability for <i>Quality</i> in Scenario 1	56
3.14	Potential output variability for <i>Time</i> in Scenario 2	57
3.15	Potential output variability for <i>Quality</i> in Scenario 2	57
3.16	MABA-MABA strategy human-cobot.	58
3.17	Potential output variability for <i>Time</i> in Scenario 3	58
3.18	Potential Output variability for <i>Quality</i> in Scenario 3	59
3.19	Tasks and activities allocation in the human-robot collaborative workspace	e's
	experiment.	66
3.20	Motor operating conditions for the UR3 cobot	67
3.21	Questionnaire to evaluate heuristics	70
3.22	Task effectiveness and task efficiency metrics for measuring perfor-	
	mance of human-robot interaction.	71
3.23	Task effectiveness and task efficiency metrics for measuring perfor-	
	mance of human-robot interaction in this experiment	71
3.24	Schedule of experiments.	77
3.25	Experimental equipment	77
3.26	KPIs referred to cobots.	84
3.27	Experimental scenarios	87
3.28	Form to Experimental Scenario (TOH5+CA). Tasks: Solve problem	
	(main) and Collaborate with cobot (secondary).	88
3.29	Participants	91
3.30	Experimental tasks and activities	92
3.31	Rating scale definitions for the NASA TLX index standard questionnaire.	95
4.1	Time to Task values obtained from the RoboDK virtual model	97
4.2	Values used in distribution functions for <i>Time</i> , the same for all the	
	functions.	98

4.3	Values used in distribution functions for <i>Quality</i> , the same for all the		
	functions.	98	
4.4	Scenario 1: Results for <i>Time</i> (mv_t, σ_t) and <i>Quality</i> (mv_Q, σ_Q)	99	
4.5	Scenario 2: Results for <i>Time</i> (mv_t, σ_t) and <i>Quality</i> (mv_Q, σ_Q)	100	
4.6	Scenario 3: Results for <i>Time</i> (mv_t, σ_t) and <i>Quality</i> (mv_Q, σ_Q)	101	
4.7	Questionnaire to evaluate heuristics	103	
4.8	Statistics Task Completion rate	106	
4.9	Percentiles in Time to Task to resolve TOH5 and CA	107	
4.10	Statistics of <i>Time to Task</i> for Task 1	107	
4.11	Statistics times in Task2	108	
4.12	Statistics SUS scoring and reliability test	109	
4.13	SUS results interpretation	110	
4.14	Responses to individual statements of the SUS	111	
4.15	Statistics of <i>Per_Utilization</i> for the cobot in HWRCE	112	
4.16	Statistics <i>Per Efficiency</i> of cobot in HWRCE	113	
4.17	The interpretation $\%$ score for the NASA TLX index	113	
4.18	Results of NASA TLX Index Score	115	
4.19	Paired <i>t</i> -test.	116	
4.20	Cumulative frequency distributions of mental workload scores by task.	116	
4.21	Paired samples test for subscales of the NASA TLX index, TOH5 and		
	ТОН5+СА	117	
4.22	TCR results for TOH5 in both scenarios	118	
4.23	TCR results for TOH5 and CA in Scenario 2.	119	
4.24	Time parameters from robot.	119	
4.25	Mean values of times from robot.	119	
5.1	Results for the overall activity (Manual Assembly). Values are the		
	mean for each the activities related for the task	123	

5.2	Results for the overall tasks (Manual Assembly). Values are the mean		
	for all the task	123	
5.3	Relation of Coefficient of Variation for <i>Time</i> and <i>Quality</i>	124	
A.1	Experimental scenario	156	
A.2	Scenario . Task 1 & Task 2: Resolve TOH5 & Collaborate with cobot		
	(CA)	156	

Chapter 1

Introduction

In this chapter the topic selected under study is motivated from an industry perspective. Next, the problem is state as well as the associated research questions and main objectives. It also presents the publications made in the research process and a guide to the reader of the document developed.

1.1 Motivation

Scientific and technological development is the precursor of the paradigm shift in human beings' lives and work. Today, humanity is experiencing a new paradigm shift from simplest to complexity, from the study of individual parts to the study and development from the system's perspective, a set of interconnected components and technologies working together to solve the complex problems facing modern society into a holistic vision. In the industrial world, these paradigm shifts have been associated to the so-called industrial revolutions. Nowadays, the development of disruptive technologies in the fields of connectivity, intelligence, automation, and advanced engineering such as high performance computers, the internet of things, big data, machine vision, artificial intelligence, collaborative robotics, among others, have motivated the emergence of the fourth industrial revolution, known as Industry 4.0 (Germany) or Connected Industry (Spain). This fourth industrial revolution is the synergic integration of Information Technologies (IT) with Industrial Operations Technologies (OT) to form an effective, efficient, and safe production system, capable of responding to the demanding needs of today's market, which asks for shorter production times, greater product diversity, higher quality, and high-level safety. From a system perspective, Industry 4.0 is a complex system, where the components of the system are essential as well as the relationships between them. This is where the power and complexity of this intricate and complex system lies. In today's vision this complicated system is seen as a socio-technical system see Figure 1.1, it is an approach to complex organizational work design that recognizes the interaction between people and technology in workplaces



Figure 1.1: Vision from the perspectives of automation and socio-technical systems

In the Industry 4.0 the operator himself, who can be seen as an indispensable resource, is addressed. Not only production lines and processes are changing but

also the role of the human is subject to significant changes and turns out to be crucial for developing productive manufacturing systems of the future [1]. One might think that people in the production hall will not be any more needed except for repairs and maintenance that are out of the routine and therefore not stored in the program of the machines. Such theories of 'unmanned factories' have instead been discussed decades ago during the CIM era (computer integrated manufacturing). In practice, instead, the factories will not be without humans, not even by introducing Industry 4.0. People will work or operate with robots, machines, cyber physical systems and other humans [78]. The importance to emphasize the role of the human being as a critical driver for a better factory performance has been pointed out by many visions and road maps about the future factory [6]. However, although their role is indisputable, humans can make mistakes that, no matter what their origin, have a direct influence on the cost of non-quality and delays. Some studies have demonstrated that human-caused non-quality is due to three main reasons: lack of appropriate guidelines, gaps in training, and the unavailability of documentation in production lines. As a result of the disruptive technologies of Industry 4.0 the (human) operator must deal with different working situations, see Figure 1.1 operators must be aware of important elements in the situation and to interpret it correctly according to their task of interest. Being constantly aware of all these elements is a difficult task for the workers and may lead to a cognitive overload.

Although most standard situations can be handled by automation a through cyberphysical systems (CPS), operators need to monitor and tune the automated system to keep its functioning within specified bounds. Moreover, automated systems are not capable of dealing with unanticipated situations [78], humans can learn from experience and thus compensate for incomplete knowledge. Humans can also adapt to different situations and prioritize different goals according to current demands. Thus, humans compensate for inevitable design shortcomings by learning and acting in flexible, context-dependent ways [47]. In addition, both the products and the manufacturing environment are becoming increasingly complex.

Investigations about the operator in the industry conducted by Romero et al. [96] propose the emphasis on the principles of human centrality, as part of the Industry 4.0 transformations, with a paradigm shift of independent human and automated activities towards a human-automation symbiosis (or 'human cyber-physical systems' HCPS). These systems are characterized by the cooperation of machines with humans in work systems and designed not to replace the abilities and skills of humans but rather to coexist with humans and help them be more efficient and effective. In this symbiosis of human and machine team, this research seeks the gain of both parties from a cognitive viewpoint. However the only automation perspective is not enough to deal with the cognitive issue, an additional view is needed.

A socio-technical systems perspective is presented in Cognitive Systems Engineering (CSE) which is dedicated to the careful study of human/machine interaction as the meaningful behavior of a unified system, introduced as the Joint Cognitive System (JCS) [49], offering a principled approach to studying human work with complex technology.

A combined view from automation and JCS systems, proposes the need to support the employee with available assisted technologies in order to cope with the increasing diversity of work tasks and the complexity of industrial production. A major aim is to increase and support existing capabilities of the worker and/or compensate shortages or deficits of the employee. There is currently a need for research on:

- Need for further case study applications of worker assistance systems in manufacturing.
- Missing methodology for the selection of appropriate worker assistance systems for specific user groups

• Missing methodology for a structured evaluation of the suitability of worker assistance systems in manufacturing.

Moreover, according to a study by the Federal Ministry of Economics and Technology, the research for Industry 4.0, this need is shown among the five areas in which Industry 4.0 solutions are developed [92],

- Decentralization and service orientation
- Self-organization / autonomy
- Networking and integration
- Assistance systems

The need of operator assistants from the perspectives of cognition and humanmachine symbiosis through HCPS is the motivation for this research.

1.2 Problem Statement and Research Questions

The introduction of different technologies considered disruptive, integrated through human cyber-physical systems (HCPS) in the workplace, force the operator to acquire new knowledge, skills and abilities to deal with the new configuration of their workplace. The current trend is changing from the demand for physical abilities and skills, towards sensory and cognitive abilities and skills, considered the latter of a higher level. However, in general, the operator is not trained in cognitive skills and abilities, causing situations of increased mental load, low performance, and therefore decreasing the efficiency and effectiveness of the process.

To meet these demands and make the complexity of the processes manageable, it is necessary to support them. This support can be provided through digital assistance systems, which help operators in their tasks to face a diversity of systems. Improvement in operators and engineers' cognitive skills is imminent to adapt to Industry 4.0 working environment. Thus, cognitive skills of the smart operators are more required than rather the physical strength.

1.2.1 Research objectives

This research is proposed on the hypothesis of the need to introduce cognitive skills in the service of assistants to the operator for the development of HCPS in the workplace.

Main objective

Defining a methodologies from socio-technical perspective to design, implement, and evaluate cognitive assistance in Human Cyber-Physical Systems (HCPS) that support the operator in Industry 4.0 to do their job into an automation system in a more efficient and effective form.

Specific objectives

This is the list of the associated specific objectives:

- Identify the functions and cognitive processes of a digital assistant during the work shift in the workplace.
- Propose a model of a socio-technical system that allows analysing the relationships of the human-robot team in the workplace.
- Evaluate the performance of the human-robot team, as a joint cognitive system, in the performance of tasks in the workplace.
- Analyse how working with a technological partner in the workplace affects the human operator.

1.2.2 Research Questions

This research focuses on the study of digital assistants that collaborate with the operator in the development of the cognitive tasks required in the workspace together with a technological partner(Human-robot Team). To guide this research, the following questions are proposed,

- What are the cognitive characteristics of a digital assistant in a HCPS in the workplace?
- How can a HCPS be modeled as a Joint Cognitive System (JCS)?
- What parameters should be considered to evaluate the human-machine team from a cognitive point of view?
- How is the introduction of new technologies affecting human-machine system performance in the workplace?

1.3 Publications

Publications made in this research

1.3.1 Journal articles

- Chacón Alejandro, Ponsa Pere, Angulo Cecilio. (2020). On Cognitive Assistant Robots for Reducing Variability in Industrial Human-Robot Activities. Applied Sciences. DOI:10.3390/app10155137
- Chacón Alejandro, Ponsa Pere, Angulo Cecilio. (2021). Cognitive Interaction Analysis in Human–Robot Collaboration Using an Assembly Task. Electronics. DOI: 10. 1317. 10.3390/electronics10111317.

 Chacón Alejandro, Ponsa Pere , Angulo, Cecilio. (2021). Usability Study through a Human-Robot Collaborative Workspace Experience. Designs. 5.
 35. DOI:10.3390/designs5020035.

1.3.2 Chapters of Book

• Chacón Alejandro, Angulo Cecilio ,Ponsa, Pere. (2020). Developing Cognitive Advisor Agents for Operators in Industry 4.0, DOI: 10.5772/intechopen.90211.

1.4 Readers Guide

The purpose of the following section is to introduce the reader to the structure of this Ph.D. Thesis and provide a brief reader's guide.

This research work focuses on assistants to the industrial operator in the workspace. The research is presented from the basis of cognition in the operator's tasks. The development is presented in six (6) chapters. In Chapter 1 the introduction text shows the motivation of the present investigation and the research questions. Chapter 2 present the state of the art in relation to Operator 4.0 the human cyber physical (HCPS) system and joint cognitive systems (JCS), as a basis for the study of cognition in the human-robot work team. The work methodology introduced in Chapter 3 presents the FRAM tool for the design of the joint cognitive system. The results obtained in the simulation part and the real experience through a case study are presented in Chapter 4. Chapter 5 discusses about the results obtained. Finally, Chapter 6 presents a list of final conclusions and the future lines .

Chapter 2

State of Art

The state of the art is presented from the perspective of Operator 4.0 and the emerging needs in the Industry 4.0 environment. Advances in cyber-physical systems are presented, and the perspective of the joint cognitive system, as the framework of the human-robot team that is studied as a case study of cyber-physical human systems. Cognition in industry is the area of interest of this research. This research work focuses on the design of assistants in cognitive tasks for the industrial operator in the workplace. To create the reference framework, initially the research context is presented in this chapter. Hence, the concepts of Industry 4.0, human-cyber physical systems, operator assistants and usability and mental load metrics are defined.

2.1 Industry 4.0 and Operator 4.0

The fourth industrial revolution indicates an increase in the quality of industrial production through the combination of machines, products and people. This is done by forming a new production system, which allows a more specific and faster exchange of information. By doing so, we are moving towards a future where robots and people collaborate with the support of smart assisted systems and web technology during the performance of work activities [29]. Anxiety regarding future systems and related

new working conditions are the result of a misunderstanding of the role of humans in future manufacturing processes. This raises the question of how and in what way the role of the worker will change in Industry 4.0 [94].

The role of the operator is being greatly affected by the changes produced in the development of Industry 4.0, as evidenced by the investigation in [94]. Figure 2.1 shows how operator's physical and cognitive skills are changing: there are an increase in cognitive skills and a decrease in physical skills, this causing certain misgivings. Much of the unease that operators show in the face of new systems and associated working conditions is due to a lack of understanding or low understanding of the role of the human actor in the new manufacturing processes. How and in what way does Industry 4.0 modify the role of the operator in the production of the future is the question raised in [94]. In a similar way, it is stated in [121], in what way and what assistance needs does the user need? In a first approach to the paradigm shift, oriented to the role of the operator in Industry 4.0, the research in [96] proposes the definition of the *Operator* 4.0 as a concept that allows defining the operator of the future in this new environment. This human-centered approach and their role in the production system will be one of the guidelines of this research.



Figure 2.1: Changes in the role of the operator

The Operator 4.0 concept is defined in [96, 68] in a general form as an operator in an industrial setting assisted by technological tools. Although the increase in the degree of automation in factories reduces costs and improves productivity, in the Industry 4.0 vision, differently of Computer-Integrated Manufacturing (CIM), human operators are yet key elements in the manufacturing systems. In fact, the increasing degree of automation 'per se' does not necessarily lead to enhanced operator performance.

The continuous innovations in the technological areas of Cyber-Physical System (CPS), the Internet of Things (IoT), the Internet of Services (IoS), robotics, big data, cloud and cognitive computing, and augmented reality (AR), result in a significant change in production systems [120, 29]. Empowered with these new skills, HCPS systems can take part, for instance, in tasks of planning and disposition, eventually to manage them. Machines take care of the adequate supply of material, change the production method to the optimal one for the real product, or devise a new plan themselves [121]. This technological evolution generates, among others, the following impacts on the operator:

- the qualification of manual tasks decreases;
- the operator can access all the necessary information in real-time to take decisions;
- intelligent assistance systems allow decisions to be taken more quickly and in a short space of time;
- co-working in the workspace between machines and people requires less effort and attention;
- human implementation and monitoring is more relevant than ever.

The emerging technologies in Industry 4.0 [88] as well as current development of Artificial Intelligent technologies are allowing that cyber-physical systems oriented to human-machine interaction be moving from only a physical interaction vision paradigm to also a cognitive one (see Table 2.1). The operator should be able to take the control and supervise the automated production system. However, the increasing information and communication power of these systems leads to a complexity that is not understandable by the current standard user interfaces employed in the industry. Consequently, the operator would need support to keep the system under stable requirements. Moreover, the operator could get the system work plan (factory, not shift supervisor), and therefore the operator would need additional information during field operation, which requires access to location-independent information as well as a situation-oriented and task-oriented information offer [46].

Table 2.1: Vision of physical and cognitive automation		
	Physical	Cognitive
Routine	Traditional Automation	Automated Learning Techniques
Non-Routine	Collaborative Robots	AI (Intelligent Assistants)

As a result of this paradigm shift, new forms of interaction appear in the field of Human-Machine Interface (HMI), in the form of intelligent user interfaces, such as Operator Support Systems (OSS), assistance systems, decision support systems and IPAs (Intelligent Personal Assistants) [94]. In the context of smart, people-centred service systems, cognitive systems can potentially progress from tools to assistants to collaborators to coaches, and be perceived differently depending on the role they play in a service system.

Assistance systems support the operator as follows [82]:

- From a human-centered design approach, expressly considers the identification of user context, the specification of user requirements, the creation of design solutions, and the evaluation of design solutions. Moreover, it provides an appropriate amount of information in a clear way.
- As a decision maker in production control, with information acquisition, data

aggregation / analysis of information, and operation choice.

However, it should be clarified that the final decision always remains in the human operator side, thus maintaining the principle of human centrality.

Regarding the tasks and the role of the operator, an increase in the proportion of *complex cognitive tasks* is expected, hence increasing the needs for coordination or organization of production resources, as well as the control and monitoring of complex production systems.

The literature shows that a significant change in this relationship from purely physical to cognitive refers to the human-machine interface, which encompasses the interaction between operators and a set of new forms of collaborative work. The interaction between humans and CPS is produced by either, direct manipulation or with the help of a mediating user interface. Such a close interaction between humans and CPS also raises socio-technological issues regarding autonomy and decision-making power. Cybernetics provides an answer on how a system that controls another system can compensate for more errors in the control process by having more operational variety. As the most flexible entity in the cyber-physical structure, the human will assume the role of a higher-level control instance [29]. Through technological support, it is guaranteed that operators can develop their full potential and adopt the role of strategic decision makers and flexible problem solvers, thus managing the increasing technical complexity. In this research work the inclusion of the human in the CPS will be presented as the latter one, HCPS.

2.2 Socio-technical and Joint Cognitive System

Socio-technical systems theory are concerned with the design of socio-technical systems; being systems that contain both social (human-related) and technical (nonhuman) aspects that interact to pursue a common goal [116]. The objective of a socio-technical system is to improve the relationship between the technology and the people involved in a defined project.

In the context of socio-technical systems, the interactions between technology and human are mutual, as both of them influence each other. Technology shapes human interactions, relations and societies, and likewise technology is also shaped by social, economic, and political force. The rationale for adopting socio-technical approaches to systems design is that failure to do so can increase the risks that systems will not make their expected contribution to the goals of the organization. Systems often meet their technical 'requirements' but are considered to be a 'failure' because they do not deliver the expected support for the real work in the organization. The source of the problem is that techno-centric approaches to systems design do not properly consider the complex relationships between the organization (industry), the people (operators) enacting processes and the system that supports these processes (machines). Industry 4.0 is predominant with technology such as connectivity and interaction technology such as smart products, smart machines and smart operators. This causes a rethinking of relationships between human and machine. This interaction is a critical relationship which will be governed by socio-technical transformation. An implementation of CPS in production and the development and use of system-based information management has led to organizations characterized by human-automation symbiosis, where machines cooperate with humans [106, 96].

The result of the inclusion of disruptive Industry 4.0 technologies in the workspace has changed the role of the operator, the Figure 2.2, shows the existence of a higher demand for the operator's cognitive skills as well as a higher demand for the operator's cognitive skills. In addition the current development of technology allows us to reach the level of cognition in HCPS (see Figure 2.4) [63]. However, the understanding of cognition generates debates because it can be approached from several domains, mainly from psychology through mental models, and from Cognitive Systems Engineering (CSE) to applications in practice. One potential improvement is to treat human operators and automated systems not as autonomous agents but as team members in a Joint Cognitive System (JCS).



ROLE OF THE OPERATOR

Figure 2.2: Change in the role of the operator adapted from [94]

A Joint Cognitive System (JCS) acknowledges that cognition emerges as goaloriented interactions of people and artifacts in order to produce work in a specific context, and at the level of the work being conducted. It does not produce models of cognition, but models of **co-agency** that corresponds to the required variety of performance and thereby emphasizes the functional aspects [2].

In this situation, complexity emerges because neither goals, nor resources, nor constraints remain constant, creating dynamic couplings between artifacts, operators and organizations. The CSE approach focuses on analyzing how people manage complexity, understanding how artifacts are used and understanding how people and artifacts work together to create and organize JCS which constitutes a basic unit of analysis in CSE. Human and machine need to be considered together, rather than separate entities linked by human-machine interactions [49].

In the domain of CSE, focus is on the mission that the JCS shall perform, avoiding vagaries into its human resemblances. It performs cognitive work via cognitive functions such as communicating, deciding, planning, and problem solving Figure 2.3. These sorts of cognitive functions are supported by cognitive processes such as perceiving, analyzing, exchanging information, and manipulating.



Figure 2.3: Cognitive work functions and cognitive processes

The importance of cognition, regardless of how it is defined, as a necessary part of the work has grown after the industrial revolution:

- Cognition is distributed rather than isolated in the human operator's mind.
- Operator do not passively accept technological artifacts or the original conditions of their work.
- Technological development is rampant, this entails the development of work with inevitably greater *operational complexity*.
- Technology is often used in ways that are not well adapted to the needs of the operator.

There is no turning back, the evolution of Information Technology, Digital Transformation and the Fourth Industrial Revolution requires that processes be more cognitive, automatic and efficient. So one potential improvement is to treat human operators and automated systems nos as autonomous agent but as a team member in a joint cognitive system.



Figure 2.4: CPS vs HCPS model

2.3 Human Cyber-Physical Systems

In the approach with humans in the interaction, a human cyber-physical system (HCPS) [96] is defined as "systems that consist of humans and integrated computational and physical components, creating new levels of socio-technical interactions between humans, machines, materials, and objects" [58]. Our research, however, focuses on HCPS, defined as "a work system that improves the capabilities of operators thanks to a dynamic interaction between humans and machines in the cyber and physical worlds through smart human-machine interfaces". The objectives for HCPS are achieved through the interactions between: the physical system (or process) to be controlled; cybernetic elements (that is, communication links and software modules); and human agents that monitor and influence the functioning of the cyber-physical elements.

In both definitions we can highlight the role of the operator within the control loop. In human-oriented architectures there is the ability to feedback the information (see Figure 2.4) at each level, because inherent intelligence of human operators can be used naturally for self-adaptation, corrective and preventive actions. For the HCPS approach, its levels configuration acts as a supervisory control to ensure that decisions made at the cognitive level are implemented and that corrective or adaptive actions are carried out by the human operator [63].

HCPS are very dynamic and complex systems being subject to a certain degree of unpredictable behaviour of both, the environment and the user. These conditions generate several challenges related to the administration of HCPS that require runtime capabilities allowing the system to detect, monitor, understand, plan and act on those not predicted changes while minimizing (and potentially eliminating) system downtime. In order to develop our cognitive advisor agent for operators, we start by defining three dimensions of HCPS: *Cybernetic, Physical* and *Human*. Each dimension is connected to the other ones through intelligent interactions (see Figure 2.5).



Figure 2.5: Three dimensions of HCPS

The physical dimension includes all the resources connected to the production system through sensors and actuators. The cybernetic dimension describes all computing, network and cloud infrastructures that communicate data, processes and software resources. Finally, the human dimension describes human elements, as well as their situations based on their objectives and context. The human dimension is especially relevant for this research, focused in aligning the objectives of HCPS with the achievement of the personal goals of the users.

2.3.1 Human roles in HCPS

For the moment, the cyber and the physical dimension have been considered in our agent-based approach. However, while in a human-centered architecture, the roles of humans in cyber-physical human systems (HCPS) must be also defined.

In the models of human-automation interaction, attention is paid to whether human assumes control of the system [104]. In HCPS systems, however, human intervention is focused in more aspects: the dialogue with other agents, decision-making and information supply. In this sense, one research line is about the definition of a human model as a part of the full HCPS model. However, human models defined as a transfer function leads to a poor approach. Some researchers expand this approach by developing analytic human models that reflect *cognitive abilities* in the interaction with cyber-physical systems [70]. On the other hand, a HCPS requires flexibility. An adaptive HCPS responds to unexpected or novel situations (re-planning, setting new goals, learn from experience) and the definition of the role of human (passive or active performer) is required [70]. Human roles examples in HCPS are, for instance:

- Supervisor (human on the loop): Approve CPS decisions; Re-allocate tasks between human and CPS
- Controller (human in the loop, Operator 4.0): Interact with sensors, actuators; Use of augmented reality technology; Collaborative task with a cobot

Merging human roles with CPS roles in order to define the functional architecture of a HCPS leads our research to the definition of a *Joint Cognitive System*, its basic aim being to achieve a high level of successful performance managing the human cognitive load in the process.

2.4 Cognition in Industry 4.0

The development of automation technology currently reached levels at which we can have systems such as those offered by IBM Watson, or artifacts with cognitive characteristics. However, the term cognition as such seems to be unclear when we focus on industrial or machine characteristics; therefore, designing these systems requires understanding from which perspective cognition is applied.

There are different definitions of cognition [46, 11] depending on the perspective with which we are working, for this research we will use an explanation from a pragmatic perspective, based on the characteristics of certain types of performance. Human performance is usually ordered (systematic and organized) and directed by objectives. This can be used as a provisional definition of cognition and can be extended to require cognitive tasks to have the following characteristics [46]:

- Cognitive tasks are driven by objectives (purposes and intentions) rather than by events. Cognitive tasks, therefore, are not merely responses based on algorithmic combinations of predefined elements but require advance reflection or planning beyond complex reactions.
- Cognitive tasks are not limited to humans; Cognitive tasks can be found in the functioning of organizations, certain artifacts, and animals.

In this perspective, the aim of designing cognitive tasks is to take advantage of the benefits offered by automation, but in a way that does not prevent operators from carrying out their functions. Achieving this goal is difficult because it requires the combination of two disciplines, systems engineering and human factors engineering, neither of which alone can provide the solution. The operator 4.0 environment is defined within an automation [96] or co-agency [56] symbiosis space, which translates into shared work between operator and automation. In this relationship to find a complete explanation to human behavior is necessary to take into account the interaction between the human and the environment within which it is immersed. This environment is driven as a joint cognitive system (JCS) within a given sociotechnical context [46], specifically in its interaction with other cognitive, human and artificial systems in the environment [11].

By looking at the socio-technical system concept, it is not about 'either technology or humans', but more about a coordinated design, which comprises a total socio-technical system. The criterion for definition should always be to use to the fullest capacity the potentialities of the human-oriented design features. In this case the goal is an intersection design whereat the human operator is facilitated by intelligent assisted systems. [21] Such assistance systems do not only offer the possibility to increase the capabilities of workers in the production, but also to create job opportunities. The categorization of the concepts and methods according to the type of aid originates from Romero et al. [96], who in their work have subdivided them into three categories. Physical aid systems primarily serve to decrease the physical workload of a worker in production. Censorial aid systems have the capacity and ability to acquire data from the environment, necessary for orientation and decisionmaking in the operator's daily work and Cognitive aid systems are defined by the ability to support the mental tasks (e.g. perception, memory, reasoning, decision, motor response, etc.) needed for the job and under certain operational settings.

This research in particular has focus in cognitive aids, Rauch's [94] research indicates that cognitive aids in industry have focused on different fields, before and after Industry 4.0, the Figure 2.6). shows from the point of view of the product life cycle, where cognitive assistance may be required, the main difference in the assistance


spaces is the use of modern technologies specific to Industry 4.0.

Figure 2.6: Changes in Aid Cognitive from Traditional Industry to Industry 4.0

Cognitive Assistants Cognition is a term referring to the mental processes involved in gaining knowledge and comprehension. In automation processes, the application of solutions have mainly focused on the physical activities of the operator, with which automatic machines and robots have had a great development. Currently, with the introduction of disruptive technologies in the workplace (cobots, virtual reality, augmented reality, smart HMI), the operator faces the need to handle systems with a greater amount of data which must be transformed into information and later into knowledge for the operator's decision-making. This transformation information is made by the cognitive abilities of the operator through different functions (for example, analysis, memory, planning). This research focuses on the concept of distributed cognition proposed by Hollan [44]. Cognition refers to all the processes by which data are transformed, reduced, processed, stored and used to solve events in the workplace, that is, conditions, monitoring, anomaly detection, optimization, prediction of future states [25]. A particular perspective is the concept of cognition in work teams. This perspective, proposed by Fiore [24], allows the understanding of cognitive processes and functions outside the brain. Understanding how cognition is distributed and how it grows by the actions of the different members of the team, leads us to the concept of macrocognition, in addition to understanding that cognition is not a closed function. It can also be understood that artifacts can develop some cognitive processes [49], for which the concept of macrocognition in the workplace emerges from the symbiotic relationship of the human operator and the technological operator. It is this macrocognition when distributed in the workplace which allows the human operator to develop their skills without a mental overload, or stress. Placing artifacts with the ability to perform cognitive processes within the HCPS allows the operator to have assistants in the workplace. In this study, the work team is made up of a human operator and a technological operator (H-R) collaborating in the workplace.

In the industrial domain, one important research activity for cognitive robotics is the development of assistant or advisor robots designed for increasing productivity and effective work organization [52, 14]. In work environments in manufacturing, assistance to skilled workers becomes crucial. Industrial companies, beyond ergonomic or safety issues, are starting to consider new qualification needs and technical competences with regard to operators. Decisions in the overall work processes are communicated to the operators to improve their information and skills [77].

Moreover, the industrial robotics area is currently moving in specific human-robot interaction domains from industrial robots to collaborative robots (*cobots*), specially for small and medium enterprises (SMEs) because affordable costs. Classical robotics approach in industrial settings does not facilitate interaction with humans since people safety and factory resources are priorities, so closed spaces by fencing are only considered [31]. This is the case for mechanical robot arms. The current move from industrial to collaborative robotics scenarios is transforming the safety model, the fencing disappears and shared workplaces are favored for cooperative tasks between human and robot. Hence, the first kind of interaction being under consideration in Industry is the physical one. By *physical interaction* we mean several scenarios considering human and robot [89]: space sharing, proximity, voluntary physical contact (limited in time), involuntary physical contact (collision), reciprocal exchange of forces. At a mechanical level, the robot should meet specifications for limiting force and speed. At the human level, aspects of bio-mechanics, risk prevention and injuries associated with involuntary physical contacts should be analyzed.

One of the purposes of collaborative robotics development is to introduce robotbased solutions in small and medium-sized companies [?]. Thus, it is convenient to find out the degree of maturity of the current industrial robotics area towards new interaction models. In these human-machine interaction models there are several functionalities to be developed [105]: planning, monitoring, intervention, learning, interaction between human and artificial agent (trained to have a dialogue with the human), assessment of mental load, levels of automation (manual, shared, and supervised control). Following this innovation path, industrial robotics evolves towards cognitive robotics. Moreover, considering progress in artificial intelligence, the integration of humans with artificial engineering systems is an interesting research area to be analyzed [111, 50].

Research on workers and robots interaction is an emerging area evolving as the current robotics also does it within the framework of the Industry 4.0. At the plant level, the human operator should interact with several devices with changing capabilities as the synergy between artificial intelligence algorithms and electronic devices with fault diagnosis functionalities increases, communications using advanced protocols.

As long as research about increasing social skills of the future human operator is being developed, it should be also ensured that the design of work tasks promotes standardization [53, 55]:

- Ensure that the human-robot team make a significant contribution to task effectiveness and productivity.
- Provide people with the appropriate level of autonomy for make decisions, procedure and task execution.
- Provide opportunities for novice operators for the development of existing skills and acquisition of new skills.
- Provide sufficient feedback for maintain the human operator in the loop.

From a cognitive or social interaction approach, the improvement in the development of algorithms should allow the intelligent robot or cognitive agent to know about the operator's working preferences, how to adapt to them, how to suggest better/optional ways of joint working and how to enhance the operator's skills. The dialogue between operator and robot should be changeable and allow advances in operator learning and in the perception of comfort that the operator experiences when working with robots [117]. Hence, one of the functionalities of cognitive robots is that of cognitive assistance. However, cognitive assistance in the form of an automatic expert partner is far from the functionality of today's collaborative robots, mainly focused on safety and physical assistance.

Once a cognitive automation platform understands how business processes work autonomously, it can also provide real-time insights and recommendations on actions to take to improve performance and results [96].

2.4.1 Cognition Human-Robot

A comparison among several approaches introduced in recent published works is presented in Table 2.2. Columns show the robotics approach employed (Research, Social and Industry), the interaction level considered (Physical, Cognitive), the employed metrics and some main characteristics of the approach.

The column *Category* in Table 2.2 shows that whether the interaction is Physical, the main concern is to establish safety in the use of collaborative robots, for instance in [4] or ISO TS 15066 standard in [72]. From the robot side, the speed of the robot's terminal element is regulated and the force exerted by the mechanical arm is limited. Talking about the human side, possible collisions between human and robot are analyzed and risk prevention due to the impact on various sensitive parts of the human body [75]. The wide variety of scenarios, the type of terminal element used by the robot, the manipulation that the robot is performing on a part in a task, the proximity of the human, makes very complicated to obtain a generic performance metric [73]. In the case of adding a collaborative robot in a manual workplace, the reduction of human physical fatigue should be measurable. Some authors propose to establish a measure of the level of collaboration [62]. If the percentage of tasks performed by the robot in an H-R system is increased, the human workload is decreasing.

When the *Category*'s label for the interaction is Cognitive, it is convenient to employ a measure of the performance of the automatic task planner: what tasks does the human do, what tasks are assigned to the robot [66]. For this kind of interaction, it is a key issue to enhance the perception of the environment. Using sensors, operators can be located, so other robots, predict the human's intention to move, analyze the execution time of the human's tasks and assess whether the robot can optimize sub-tasks initially assigned to the human. It can be also identified human's working styles, the rhythm in which the human performs his/her tasks, changes in this rhythm. Hence, the robot can suggest that operators change their

Table 2.2: A comparison among several Human-Robot Interaction metrics. Columns show the robotics approach, the interaction level, the employed metrics and some particular features. H, R notation means human or robot (traded), while H-R means human and robot (shared).

Approach	Category	Metrics	Features			
Research [108]	Cognitive	H,R task effectiveness, Interaction effort, Situa- tional awareness	Review and Classifica- tion of common metrics			
Research [73]	Physical and Cogni- tive	Human - robot teaming performance	Developing a metrology suite			
Research [4]	Physical	Subjective metrics in a 7- point Likert scale survey (seven heuristics)	Physical human interac- tion is modelled as infor- mative and not as a dis- turbance			
Research [35]	Cognitive	Physiological, Task anal- vsis	Model and comparison of H-H team H-B team			
Research $[42]$	Cognitive	Fluency	H-R teams research			
Social [20]	Cognitive	System Usability Scale (SUS) questionnaire	Early detection neurolog- ical impairments like de- mentia			
Social [66]	Cognitive	Task effectiveness	H-R model with per- ception, knowledge, plan and action			
Industry [65]	Physical	Human localization, La- tency, Performance	Prediction of future loca- tions of H,R for safety			
Industry [61]	Physical	Completion task time	Robotic assembly systems			
Industry [72]	Physical	H-R distance, speed, per- formance; Time collision	Algorithm case studies, Standards ISO 13855, ISO TS 15066			
Industry [75]	Physical	H-R risk, Degree of col- laboration, Task analysis	Assembly line with H-R shared tasks			
Industry [62]	Physical and Cogni- tive	Level of Collaboration; H,R fully controlled, co- operation	Holistic perspective in human-robot coopera- tion			

working behaviors. For instance, the not so noticeable fatigue is mental fatigue. Applying sensors for measuring heart rate, respiratory rate, for example, it is possible to collect data on the state of the human and recommend breaks. All this sensory can become invasive, and traditionally a questionnaire is used when the task is finished, to collect the subjective assessment of the operator. The NASA-TLX questionnaire measures mental load and is suitable for assessing differences in cognitive load when the human is carrying out a main task and a secondary task is added [108, 35].

Thus, an improved workplace setting should take into account the joint framework conformed by human, cognitive agent, and collaborative robot. In this context, we should distinguish two roles for the human: *supervisor* and *operator*. In the case of a human with the role of supervisor, the cognitive agent assists her/him in deciding the best task planning. The cognitive robot can show the performance of the set of operators that work with collaborative robots and can provide guidelines for a better assignment of tasks to operators. Besides, for a human in the role of operator who works with the collaborative robot, the cognitive agent/robot can remind the operator about performance in previous days, and can advise her/him on maintaining the working mode or changing to improve performance. In the case of new operators, the cognitive robot can provide feedback to enhance learning.

2.4.2 The Cognitive Design Problem: The FRAM Tool

As the automation of complex processes becomes more achievable the need for engineering procedures that help decide what and how to automate becomes more important to the safety, flexibility and performance of automation use. The implementation must satisfy general criteria such as *minimizing workload*, *maximizing awareness of what is going on* and *reducing the number of errors*. The basic problem therefore is to reduce the cognitive demands of the tasks being performed by the operators involved in the system while maintaining fully their ability to function within their given roles [95].

The JCS perspective in developing the FRAM model allows an understanding of the effects of task and information propagation, and eventual distributed criticalities, taking advantage of the functional properties of the system [2]. JCSs are characterized by three principles [49]: (a) goal-orientation, (b) control to minimize entropy (i.e., disorder in the system), and (c) co-agency at the service of objectives.

In order to understand the socio-technical system, the Functional Resonance Analysis Method (FRAM) [48] can be used, which allows to have a model generated by the application itself. The FRAM can be described as a method that is used to produce a model, instead of a method that is derived from a model, this method is a way to interpret the phenomenon under study. The objective of FRAM is to build a model of how a set of activities are carried out in a given organization or workplace. It proposes that everyday events and activities can be described in terms of *functions* involved without predefined specific relations, levels, or structures, see Figure 2.7. Instead, the FRAM assumes that the behavior of functions, hence the outcomes of an activity or process, can be understood in terms of *four basic principles* described in the following. Moreover, the not predefined functions are described using *six aspects*.

The principles of FRAM are:

- 1. The equivalence of successes and failures: acceptable outcomes as well as unacceptable outcomes are due to the ability of organizations, groups and individuals successfully to adjust to expected and unexpected situations.
- 2. Approximate adjustments: things predominantly go well, but also they occasionally go wrong.
- 3. Emergent outcomes: the variability of two or more functions can be combined in unexpected ways that can lead to results that are unpredictable and disproportionate in magnitude, both negative and positive.

4. Functional resonance: The variability of one function may in this way come to affect the variability of other functions in analogy with the phenomenon of resonance (see Figure 2.7)

In FRAM a function represents acts or activities – simple or composite – needed to produce a certain result. Examples of simple human functions are to triage a patient or to fill a glass with water. The organizational function of the emergency room in a hospital, for example, is to treat incoming patients while the function of a restaurant is to serve food. Finally, composite functions include, for instance, a flight management system.

In the description of functions an important distinction can be made between tasks and activities, corresponding to the distinction between Work-as-Imagined (WAI)



Figure 2.7: success or failure emerges from the variability of system performance as a result of complex interactions and unexpected combinations of actions

and Work-as-Done (WAD). A task describes work as designed, or as imagined by managers. An activity describes work as it is actually performed or done. FRAM primarily focuses on activities as they are done or WAD, but can of course also be used to model WAI.

To basically illustrate the use of FRAM, a pick&place system with a robot is shown in Figure 2.9. The system is based on filling boxes with cylinders. The cylinder supplier is in position *Warehouse* and the destination box in position *Box*. The FRAM model should describe functions and their potential couplings for a typical situation, but not for a specific one. Hence, it is not possible to certainly determine whether a function always will be performed before or after another function. It can only be determined when the model is instantiated. At the start, functions are identified in a first independent version about execution (see Figure 2.10).

The development of the model can continue in several ways – none of them being



Figure 2.8: The resonance functional

preferable over the others. One way is to look at the other functions in the same way and try to define as many of their aspects as seems reasonable and possible. Another way is try to define aspects that are incompletely described in the current version of the model. The basis of the FRAM is the description of the functions that make up an activity or a process. The functions of different tasks have been assigned depending on who does it, (human, Cobot, Process) in the HCPS (see Figure 2.11). The relationships are not specified nor described directly and the FRAM Model Visualiser (FMV) in fact does not allow lines or connectors to be drawn between functions. Relationships are instead specified indirectly via the descriptions of the aspects of functions. The common technical term for such relations is *couplings*.

Couplings described in a FRAM model through dependencies are called *potential couplings*. This is because a FRAM model describes the potential or possible relationships or dependencies between functions without referring to any particular situation. In an instantiating of a FRAM model, only a subset of the potential couplings can be realized; these represent the *actual couplings* or dependencies that have occurred



Figure 2.9: Example of a HCPS



Figure 2.10: The FRAM model for a Pick and Place function ver1.0



Figure 2.11: The FRAM model for a Pick & Place function / Assignation functions

or are expected to occur in a particular situation or a particular scenario [48].

Hence, basically we can highlight the following useful features for our study:

- PURPOSE: A FRAM analysis aims to identify how the system works (or should work) for everything to succeed (i.e., everyday performance), and to understand how the variability of functions alone or in combination may affect overall performance.
- MODEL: A FRAM model describes a system's functions and the potential couplings among them. The model does not describe or depict an actual sequence of events, such as an accident or a future scenario.
- INSTANTIATION: A concrete scenario is the result of an instantiation of the model. The instantiation is a "map" about functions coupling, or how they may become coupled, under given favourable or unfavourable conditions.

The use of FRAM as a tool for the analysis of cognitive tasks would allow us to understand about JCS works, identify its critical points, the propagation of the relationships between functions and understand the distributed cognition and coagency between the human and the machine.

2.5 Metrics

Measuring the effectiveness, performance, and satisfaction are important to guarantee the effectiveness and efficiency of assistance. To evaluate the latter proposed experiments around HCPS, standardized metrics are used in human work.

2.5.1 Usability

In order to evaluate the performance of the work carried out by a human-robot team, the use of usability as an evaluation metric is proposed, based on the experience of human-computer interaction systems. However, in human-robot work, there are some differences to consider. Robots represent dynamic systems with varying levels of autonomy that operate in real-world environments. In addition, there are differences in the types of interactions and their roles respectively, the physical nature of the robots, the number of systems with which the user may have to interact at the same time and the environment in which these interactions can occur [102].

User research is the systematic study of the goals, needs and capabilities of users. Usability testing is a basic element for determining whether users are accomplishing their goals. Following the international standard definition ISO 9241, Part 11 [54],Figure 2.12 usability is the extend to which a product can be used by specific users to achieve specific goals with (i) effectiveness, (ii) efficiency an (iii) satisfaction in a specified context of use. *Effectiveness* refers to the number of errors, number of successfully completed activities; *efficiency* relates with the task time, physical effort, fatigue, cognitive workload; finally, *satisfaction* is usually measured using subjective questionnaires. It is noting that other researchers [15] include usability in a broader methodological framework focused on user experience. A pleasurable user experience is an essential design target of human-collaborative robot interaction and more goals could be added as: fellowship, sympathy, inspiration and accomplishment.

In order to evaluate the usability of collaborative workspaces between humans and robots, in this research a usability test plan is presented. It is developed through a concrete human-robot collaborative workspace experience (HRCWE) to illustrate how this usability test plan can be applied in a real environment. A description of the experience is provided, specifying objectives, roles, and responsibilities of all involved and associated timelines. It should be noted that main outcomes are not about the results obtained for this illustrative usability test plan, but the design of the plan itself.



Figure 2.12: Definition usability by ISO9241

2.5.2 Mental Workload

A key element in this transformation to Industry 4.0 is the emphasis on an humancentered approach and full automation. This human-based transformation implies a paradigm shift from independent automated and human activities towards a humanautomation symbiosis characterized by the cooperation of machines with humans in workplaces, which are designed not to replace (eventually, overcome) skills and abilities of humans, but rather to co-exist and assist humans in increasing human wellbeing and production performance [96]. In recent reports, as the Good Work Charter of the European Robotics Industry [22], fusion skills are defined as an interesting challenge: skills that draw on the fusion of human and robots within a business process to create better outcomes than working independently.

In manufacturing systems, the manual assembly task is a routine activity that have been tried to be completely replaced by robotics, unsuccessfully many times [90]. In the case to develop this work in the form of human-robot collaboration, it is detailed in [3] the assessment of the operator stress. In [41], the effects of robot appearance and relative status on human-robot collaboration are investigated to the extent to which people relied on and ceded responsibility to a robot coworker. Negative impact reduction of integrating human-robot teams is investigated in [119], by maintaining human aspects as social interaction, autonomy, problem solving, and task variety. Hence, further studies about the role definition of the human operator in manufacturing applications is required.

Cognitive skills should be not only considered for the operators, but also for the robotics systems. Human-robot interaction design at a cognitive level is a key element for the success of the collaborative workplace [81]. In some cases, the operator could get help from an assistant with cognitive skills to improve the operator's understanding of technology equipment. Hence, in [87] a cognitive work analysis method is applied for the design of an assistance system to support human in the control of intelligent manufacturing systems. In [112] an intelligent decision making method is developed that allows human-robot task allocation using the robot operating system (ROS) framework. With the aim to decrease the workload of the human and maximize the user adaptation, it is developed in [60] a set of cognitive models (task model, truth-maintenance model, interaction model, and intention rule-base). A mathematical model is introduced in [93] relating human low workload (physical, mental) to high performance in a human-robot collaboration framework depending on the complexity of the task, and whether the robot task is performed successfully or with errors (human intervention is required).

For cognitive interaction between an operator and a station, what type of interface allows efficient dialogue should be considered. In [74] a framework (methods, metrics, design recommendations) is developed for the study of effective interface designs in collaborative human-robot interaction. Moreover, when collaborative robots progress towards cognitive robotics, the human operator should be trained to be at that same level of competence. In this context, cognitive architectures for human-robot teaming interaction must be developed and tested [103]. From the cognitive point of view, workload and attention must be assessed. A priory, semi-automatic systems (collaborative systems) should facilitate effective teamwork between robots and humans. The human task must be adequately balanced so as not to excessively increase the assigned load. With regard to attention, it is necessary to analyze what type of attention is appropriate for the tasks that are being performed (sustained, selective, divided). If a task has high priority then it is preferable sustained attention: the human is focused and motivated to continue this task and complete it. In other cases, is preferable selective attention: the human is developing the task even when there are distractions around him. In some situations the operator needs to have attention in multiple places. Divided attention helps the human retain information while successfully completing two or more tasks at the same time.

Having to intervene in various places can cause stress for the operator and make it difficult for the chosen task to be carried out successfully. To understand in detail how humans behave when faced with the challenge of completing a task or interrupting it to carry out a direct intervention at the station, the following section shows how to prepare a laboratory scenario on which to perform and evaluate human-robot collaboration tasks.

Chapter 3

Methodology

The two portions of the study consisted of evaluating the usability as operator performed two tasks at workspace and the mental load that the development of these tasks causes in the operator. This section begins with descriptions of methodology we used for design, implement and evaluating the workspace and the evaluation environment we used for both portions of the study.

The developed research methodology is adapted from the User Centered Design method. Considering in the first place as a user the Operator 4.0, this methodology promotes a framework that has four steps.

- Understand and specify context of use.
- Specify the user requirements.
- Produce design solutions.
- Evaluate the design solutions.

For the development of the user-centered approach, the definition of the operator 4.0 has been considered, understood as a smart, skilled operator who performs not only cooperative work with robots but also aided work by machines as and if



Figure 3.1: Methodology for research.

needed by means of human cyber-physical systems, advanced human-machine interaction technologies and adaptive automation towards achieving human-automation symbiosis work systems [97], the different technologies of Industry 4.0 create a new work environment that is much more qualified. A more interesting working environment, greater autonomy and opportunities for self-development where the central element is human-centricity [57] from this description we obtain that the focus must be focused on the user, as the main executor of activities in the workspace.

3.1 Understand and specify context of use

The workspace can be considered as a set of working conditions as show Table3.1 and ergonomic principles and human factors, which can be considered as a space for improving the cognitive and physical abilities of the operator, it will be necessary to develop methodologies and technologies to create a suitable working environment for efficient operator work 4.0, which entails the concept of the Workplace of the Future [27]

Aspects	Description				
Operator duty	Collaboration with the machine.				
Task complication	High.				
Situation Awareness (SA)	Second Level.				
Speed	Very High.				
Decision making dependency	Independent operators and work groups				
Operator jobs	Entire manufacturing.				
Data supply	Real time decision assistance to opera- tors.				

Table 3.1: The working environment with Operator 4.0 concept, adapted from [85]

For the development of the research, the Human Cyber Physical system (HCPS) has been identified as the unit of analysis [49, 96] in a common framework. In order to develop our approach and work on the research questions, this HCPS is implemented in the form of a case study as a human-robot collaborative workspace experience (HRCWE), through an academic prototype.

To understand the context of use, it has been conceptualized the HCPS-based as a socio-technical system, the modeling is performed through the FRAM tool; then, a first validation of the model through simulation and statistical assessment will be performed. The study focuses on work variability. The next step is the implementation of the prototype in a laboratory and the design of experiments in the form of HRCWE, to collect data associated with the human part, such as usability, then the data of the machine through metrics, and teamwork data. These measurements allow understanding and evaluating performance from the perspective of the human-machine work team or more specifically in the experiment the human-robot team.

3.2 Specify the user requirements

We start from the premise that for the concept of Industry 4.0, the operation of a process or a processing plant requires the participation of an operator [47]. The objective is therefore to analyze the social construction of robots as co-workers in collaborative work environments to better understand how the distribution of tasks and the organization of work will be affected by the introduction of this new form of robots, thus the table shows the characteristics of the workspace to be implemented.

3.3 Produce design solutions

3.3.1 Value Sensitive Design

Future production workplaces will be augmented with multiple types of worker assistance systems that will combine technologies such as collaborative robotics, voice interaction, augmented reality, and more, thus giving rise to digital assistants [69]. In part, this drive toward these new types of symbiotic technologies is a consequence of increased needs in manufacturing industries, with a consequent increased need for production workers. However, like all technologies, these systems also embody human values. More specifically, the design decisions made in the engineering of these HCPS imply a series of human values, even if they are not explicit. The philosophy of technology has long held that technologies are neither value-neutral, nor purely instrumental, nor purely deterministic. The Value Sensitive Design (VSD) approach is a principled framework to illustrate how technologies enabling human-machine symbiosis in the Factory of the Future can be designed to embody elicited human values [69]. The question is, How to align humans, technology and organization to ensure human well-being and system performance in industrial work systems in the transition to Industry 4.0? for this research propose VSD identifies are show in Table_{3.3}

In order to support the development of human values, the Figure 3.2 3.3 3.4, proposed a set of specifications in accordance with the standard established for the corresponding value.

Operator qualification and training				
Level of education	Low (no dedicated job training)			
Training contents	Brief introduction to the machines and tasks			
On-the-job training	Often the only source of training			
Conditions for learning	Poor (few permanent jobs)			
Routine task characteristics				
Content	Keeping production going, meeting spec- ifications, quality control, dealing with faults			
Specificity of interventions	Qualitative, few instrumental measure- ments			
Human-automation task sharing	Operators provide the preconditions and collaborate with assembly			
Frequency of interventions	High			
Repetitiveness	High			
Types of control	Production control, compensatory con- trol, corrective control			
	Vigilance and scanning, need for mental			
Monitoring	models, perceiving effects of process in products reacting to alarms			
Dealing with abnormal situati	ons			
Dealing with abilitinal situati				
Detecting	Easy Commence and the location			
Dealing with faults	compensatory control (stopping, re- starting), often just removing symptoms, procedural knowledge gained from experi- ence			
Challenges for operators				
Understanding the process	Basic			
	No complex system dynamics but lim-			
Complex interactions	ited understanding of interconnections be- tween machines, product properties, and environment			
	Fully specified, clear hierarchy of con-			
Goal state	straint			
Time pressure	High			

Table 3.2: Workspace Characteristics

Value	Definition
ACCESSIBILITY	Refers to making all workers successful users of technology.
CONFORMITY	Support the workers to respect rules and expecta- tions, thus demonstrating social discipline and loy- alty. At the same time, it shall restrict one's ac- tions and/or conditioning one's choice, inclinations, impulses and desires.
HUMAN WELFARE	Refers to ensure workers' health (physical well-being and peaceful psychological state) also thanks to a proper work-life balance, a balanced workload and a comfortable and pleasant work environment.



Figure 3.2: Accessibility



Figure 3.3: Conformity



Figure 3.4: Human welfare

3.3.2 Functional Resonance Analysis Methodology

The variability of human behavior during plan execution poses a difficult challenge for human-robot teams. Some researchers use the theory of mind (ToM), or the ability to infer beliefs, desires and intentions of others [40]. The Functional Resonance Analysis Method (FRAM) allows modelling complex socio-technical systems by collecting data from real/simulated work practices. It provides a tool to describe system outcomes using the idea of resonance arising from the *variability* of everyday performance. By understanding sources of human variability using FRAM it could be possible design cognitive assistant robots with the aim to balance this variability.

In the context of human-robot interactive systems, the application of FRAM when modeling H-R tasks in order to get task allocation/configuration between human operator and robot allows in a straightforward form to evaluate variability as a performance measure. Whit this aim in mind, some analysis steps are necessary,

- Identify and describe system activities into a task, and characterize each one using a six basic characteristics (aspects) schema: Resource, Precondition, Input, Time, Control, Output. See Figure 3.5 and Table 3.4.
- 2. Check the completeness/consistency of the model. In this point, a discussion about the work of human-robot teams is required.
- 3. Characterize the potential variability of the activities in the FRAM human-

robot model.

- 4. Define useful variability metrics.
- 5. Identify an effective task allocation/configuration between human and robots.



Figure 3.5: FRAM activity/function representation [47] in order to graphically represent instances in a FRAM study.

Aspects	Description
Input (I)	It activates the activity and/or is used or transformed to produce the Output. Constitutes the link to upstream activities.
Output (O)	It is the result of the activity. Constitutes the link to downstream activities.
Precondition (P)	Conditions to be fulfilled before the activity can be per- formed.
Resource (R)	Components needed or consumed by the activity when it is active.
Control (C)	Supervises or regulates the activity such that it derives the desired Output.
Time (T)	Temporal aspects that affect how the activity is carried out.

Table 3.4: Aspects related to an **<ACTIVITY>**.

The variability of an activity's output is revealed by the variability occurred in its outputs, and is referred to the deviation of one or several of the following dimensions such as: timing, duration, magnitude, object, and so on, with respect to an expected value. Thus, the variability occurred in the upstream functions affects the performance of the downstream function. The subsequent propagation of the variability in the system may lead to nonlinear effect called resonance generating unexpected/uncontrolled consequences. However, the impact of such variability over the system cannot be determined by observing the variability of the upstream function output only. In fact, it also depends on the variability acceptance capacity of the function receiving inputs (downstream). Thus, the functional resonance effect is triggered by the output variability of the upstream function exceeding the variability dumping capacity of the downstream function [7].

All the elements highlighted in Figure ?? have been now defined: human and robotics activities will be modelled using FRAM, because this methodology allows the evaluation of the variability in quantitative measures. Modelling configures a task in several activities, which will be simulated using FlexSim, RodoDK and UR robots simulator, and executed to get information about this variability in the measure. According to the obtained performance, feedback is provided to improve human skills and robot behavior. Eventually, this feedback will generate new interaction models for the task. In the next section, all these elements will be implemented in the form of a manual assembly task and results obtained from the executed simulation will be analyzed.

3.3.3 Environment Modelling and Simulation

This section will provide a precise description of the experimental setup, in the form of collaborative manual assembly; metrics under consideration, mainly variability depending on user preferences and selected process strategies, impacting on product/process quality; modelling of the task, using the FRAM method, in the form of activities; obtained results in a simulated environment; their interpretation, as well as the experimental conclusions that are drawn from the simulated experiences of the manual assembly task. For easiness of the discussion, FRAM principles of failures and emergence are out of the scope in this article.

3.3.4 Experimental Setup: A Manual Assembly Task

The production process to be automated is an assembly system for a turning mechanism, which is part of a whole production system. In Figure 3.6, the components of the assembly task are shown. The product to be assembled (see Figure 3.20) requires three parts: a *base* on which a *bearing* is placed and finally the assembly is sealed with a *cap*. As an initial stage it is assumed that the raw material is always available. The workstation process is described as follows (Work as Imagined, WAI [47]):

- 1. It is verified that there is a base, a bearing and a cap from the stock to start the assembly.
- 2. Get a base from the stock, get the bearing and pre-assemble on the base.
- 3. Next, get the cover and assemble the product.
- 4. Take the assembly and store it in a stock.



Figure 3.6: Simulated layout of an assembly task.



Figure 3.7: Product (Turning Mechanism) and assembly steps.

This process of assembly will continue until completing the production order, or until the end of the work shift. Input and output stocks can be into either, the same or different location.

3.3.5 Activities Modelling for the Manual Assembly Task

The goal of the model is the allocation of functions needed to perform product assembly, and to assign functions to the operator or robot within the workplace in a collaborative human-robot environment. For the modelling, first a basic model of the necessary functions of the process is created, without considering who performs the function, and then 3 scenarios are established for the execution,

- Scenario 1. Fully manual task.
- Scenario 2. Fully automated task with a robot (a cobot is supposed).
- Scenario 3. The process is executed in a collaborative manner, human-robot shared task.

The FRAM methodology (Functional Resonance Analysis Method) [83] is followed for modelling, based on the 4 steps describe above.

Identify and Describe Functions

Based on the description of the process, the following are the **<ACTIVITIES>** associated to the **[MANUAL ASSEMBLY]** Task. Each work task in the process is divided into activities, assignable to H, R, or both H-Rs. In the context of the FRAM model, activities are also referred as *Functionalities*,

- <ASSEMBLY PRODUCT>
- <ASSEMBLY BEARING_BASE>
- <GET BASE>
- <GET BEARING>
- <GET CAP>
- <CHECK PRODUCT>
- <START PRODUCTION>
- <CHECK PARTS>
- <PROVIDE PARTS>
- <STORE ASSEMBLY>

These Activities or Functionalities are described in a FRAM form. For illustrative purposes, the **<ASSEMBLY PRODUCT>** activity is shown in Table 3.5. Function Type is not initially described as far as it can be either 'Human', when performed by an operator, or 'Technological', when is a cobot under consideration. An instance of the model in the FRAM visualisation tool, shown in Figure 3.8, highlights the **<ASSEMBLY PRODUCT>** function considered as an objective function of the system.

Table 3.5: Function <assembly product="">.</assembly>				
Name of Function	<assembly product=""></assembly>			
Description	Assembly the PRODUCT, put the CAP in the AS- SEMBLY BEARING_BASE, end of process			
Function Type	Not initially described			
Aspect	Description of Aspect			
Aspect Input	Description of Aspect (BASE_BEARING) in position			
Aspect Input Input	Description of Aspect (BASE_BEARING) in position (CAP) in position			
Aspect Input Input Output	Description of Aspect (BASE_BEARING) in position (CAP) in position PRODUCT			



Figure 3.8: The assembly task as an instance of the model FRAM.

Scenario 1. Fully manual task

In this scenario the functions will be executed by a single operator, within the work shift, who performs assemblies according to the production orders that arrive at the workstation. For the execution of the functions a new function is added to the basic model, called <OPERATORS>, which oversight resource operator, as shown in Table 3.6.

Table 3.6: Function <operators>.</operators>			
Name of Function	<operators></operators>		
Description Function Type	Oversight resource operator Human		
Aspect	Description of Aspect		

According to the FRAM methodology the functions executed by the operator are 'Human' type. Therefore the Function Type characteristic initially labelled as 'Not described initially' now changes according to those options shown in Table 3.7.

Table 3.7:	Function	Type	defined	as	'Human'	for	all	the	activities	in	the	manual
assembly ta	ask.											

Function	Function Type			
<assembly product=""></assembly>	Human			
<assembly BEARING_BASE></assembly 	Human			
<get base=""></get>	Human			
<get bearing=""></get>	Human			
<get cap=""></get>	Human			
<operators></operators>	Human			
<check product=""></check>	Human			

Scenario 2. Fully automated task with a robot

In this scenario functions are executed by a single robot, within the work shift, which performs the amount of assemblies possible according to the production orders. For the execution, the function called **<OPERATORS>** is redefined as shown in Table 3.8.

Name of Function	<operators></operators>
Description Function Type	Oversight resource operator Human
Aspect	Description of Aspect

Table 3.8: Function <OPERATORS>.

Now the functions executed by the Robot are of the Technological type, and the 'Function type' characteristic changes according to those shown in Table 3.9.

Table 3.9: Function Type defined as 'Technological' for all the activities in the Scenario 2.

Function	Function Type
<assembly product=""></assembly>	Technological
<assembly BEARING_BASE></assembly 	Technological
<get base=""></get>	Technological
<get bearing=""></get>	Technological
<get cap=""></get>	Technological
<operators></operators>	Human
<check product=""></check>	Technological

Scenario 3. The process is executed in a collaborative manner, Human-Robot shared task

In this scenario, the functions will be executed collaboratively by either an operator or a robot, within the work shift, performing assemblies according to the production orders. For the execution, the function <OPERATORS> is in charge of changing the type of function within the model, according to the strategy established by a human agent or by a technological agent. As result, now the functions executed by the robot are 'Technological' type, and the functions executed by the operator are 'Human' type. The characteristic changes according to those shown in Table 3.10.

The choice between 'Technological' and 'Human' for this scenario has been determined in order to mix both types for Assembly functions and Get functions, for illustrative purposes. It has been assumed that the base-bearing assembly is a delicate one, from a decorative perspective. Hence, introducing dexterous human abilities will improve final quality of the product from a decorative/customer perspective that the robot is not able to perform always with the current sensor setting or programming.

Table 3.10: Function Type defined as 'Human' or 'Technological' depending on the activities to be performed in the Scenario 3.

Function	Function Type
<assembly product=""></assembly>	Technological
<assembly BEARING BASE></assembly 	Human
<get base=""></get>	Human
<get bearing=""></get>	Human
<get cap=""></get>	Technological
<operators></operators>	Human
<check product=""></check>	Technological

3.3.6 Identifying variability

For the identification of the variability, the type of function defined in the model is considered. The objective of the study is to determine the variability according to the type of agent used to perform the functions. Based on the FRAM methodology, to check the variability of the performance of the output of the functions, the characteristics *Time* and *Quality* are selected.

The measurement of the output characteristics will be performed through the 'Time to Task' and 'High Quality Product Percentage' KPIs, as it can be seen in Table 3.11.

Table 3.11: KPI quantitative variables definition			
Characteristic	KPI	Description	
Time	Time to Task	Time to complete a prod- uct (total assembly)	
Quality	High Quality Product Percentage	Ratio of high qualit products to total product tion expressed as a per centage	

Based on the definitions Equation 3.1 and Equation 3.2 show how they

Based on the definitions, Equation 3.1 and Equation 3.2 show how they are calculated, respectively,

$$\texttt{Time to Task} = \sum_{i=1}^{5} T_{A_i} \tag{3.1}$$

with T_{A_i} being the time to complete activities <GET BASE>, <GET BEARING>, <ASSEMBLY BEARING_BASE>, <GET CAP>, and <ASSEMBLY PRODUCT>, for i = 1, ..., 5, respectively, and

High Quality Product Percentage
$$= \frac{N_{HighProduct}}{N_{TotalProducts}} \cdot 100$$
 (3.2)

As a general concept, for each planned scenario, the characteristics of the operator are considered as sources of *Time* variability. Reversely, *Quality* of the final product will vary and be reduced when robots are considered into the process. All the products have, at least, Standard quality, but most of them are High quality in some sense for the customer, not affecting functioning but, for instance, decorative issues. For example, the parts for the assembly arrive at the process without any orientation, the process assembly its products with high efficacy and typical quality, but if the operator aligns them by changing their orientation, the customer perceives a better quality of the product. This alignment is an easy task of decision for the human operator, while for the robot it would require the use of extra sensors, for example artificial vision.

Scenario 1. Fully manual task.

In this scenario the variability is considered to depend on the type of operator performing the process, defined as Expert, Standard or Novice. Based on the FRAM methodology, Table 3.12 and Table 3.13 show the characteristics considered.

Table 5.12. I otential output variability for Time in Sechario 1.		
Function	Type Operator	Output
<assembly product=""></assembly>	Expert	Too early: Time to Task down and keep regular in time
	Standard	On Time: Time to Task is according to design
	Novice	Too Late: Time to Task increases with irregular variations

Table 3.12: Potential output variability for *Time* in Scenario 1.

Function	Type Operator	Output
<assembly product=""></assembly>	Expert	High Quality Product Percentage value is high
	Standard	High Quality Product Percentage value is typ- ical
	Novice	High Quality Product Percentage value is low

Table 3.13: Potential output variability for *Quality* in Scenario 1.

Scenario 2. Fully automated task with a robot

Based on the FRAM methodology, Table 3.14 and Table 3.15 show the characteristics considered. The 'Type Operator' is a cobot than can be considered in a Basic version or an Optimized one, which is faster processing parts.

Function	Type Operator	Output
<assembly product=""></assembly>	Optimized	Too early: Time to Task down
	Basic	On Time: Time to Task is the same all the time Too late: Not possible, except in case of com- plete breakdown

Table 3.14: Potential output variability for *Time* in Scenario 2.

Table 3.15: Potential output variability for *Quality* in Scenario 2.

Function	Type Operator	Output
<assembly product=""></assembly>	Optimized	High Quality Product Percentage value is high
	Basic	High Quality Product Percentage value is typ- ical

Scenario 3. The process is executed in a collaborative manner, Human-Robot shared task

In this scenario the variability will be the result of the multiple possible combinations of the variability of the human-type functions and the technological functions; the result depends on the strategy of assignment of the activities. In this first version, the MABA-MABA (Men-Are-Better-At/Machines-Are-Better-At) method is considered [19] see Table 3.16, for which it is assumed that the human operator better develops the function **<ASSEMBLY BEARING_BASE>**, and the robot for the function **<ASSEMBLY PRODUCT>**. Table 3.17 and Table 3.18 show the characteristics considered, for the different activities.

3.3.7 Human-Robot Collaborative Workspace

Kruger [64] defined a collaborative robot as a mechanical device enabling human–machine cooperation through direct physical interaction with fellow humans. The area where
Iable 3.16: MABA-MABA strategy numan-cobot.		
Human is better than the cobot	Cobot is better than the Hu- man	
Ability to improvise and use flex- ible procedures	Ability to respond quickly to con- trol signals, and to apply great force smoothly and precisely.	
Ability to reason inductively.	Ability to perform repetitive, rou- tine tasks.	
Ability to detect changes in part quality	Ability to maintain on-time	
Ability to replanning time	Ability to maintain precision	

Table 3.16: MABA-MABA strategy human-cobot.

Function	Type Operator	Output
<assembly< td=""><td>Expert</td><td>Too early: Time to Task down and keep regular in time</td></assembly<>	Expert	Too early: Time to Task down and keep regular in time
BEARING_BASE>	Standard	On Time: Time to Task is according to design
	Novice	Too Late: Time to Task increases with irregular variations
<assembly product=""></assembly>	Optimized	Too early: Time to Task down
	Basic	On Time: Time to Task is the same all the time

Table 3.17: Potential output variability for *Time* in Scenario 3.

Function	Type Operator	Output
<assembly< td=""><td>Expert</td><td>High Quality Product Percentage value is high</td></assembly<>	Expert	High Quality Product Percentage value is high
BEARING_BASE>	Standard	High Quality Product Percentage value is typ- ical
	Novice	High Quality Product Percentage value is low
<assembly product=""></assembly>	Optimized	High Quality Product Percentage value is high High Quality Product
	Basic	Percentage value is typ- ical

Table 3.18: Potential Output variability for *Quality* in Scenario 3.

human and robot work and can co-exist is the workspace Figure 3.12. While each robot and human has a space where they can move during performance of job which is called zone. Within each work zones there can be additional zones depending on the interaction type.

According to the Architecture model for human-robot collaboration shown in Figure 3.12 the HRCWE can be described in the three dimensions as:

- HRC team composition = 1 Human and 1 Robot: A robot is assisting a human in accomplishing the tasks.
- HRC interaction levels = Cooperation: Human and robot both have shared tasks in the shared workspace but they do not work on the same component. Human and robot have a common shared workspace and they are present in the workspace at the same time. However, each of them are working on a separate workpiece. This done in a sequence.
- HRC Safety implications = Power 'I&' force limiting: This follows the safety limitations based human-robot interactions as described in ISO 15066 standard, for HRCWE the cobot establish Power and force limiting.



Figure 3.9: Human robot collaboration [71]



Figure 3.10: Architecture model for human-robot collaboration adapted [71]

Task in HRCWE. the Task 2, the assembly can be performed according to the combination of components to produce 3 different products, without changing the robot programming, the possibilities are shown in the Figure 3.11, the activities shown have been initially distributed according to the grasping conditions of the objects.



Figure 3.11: Products in HRWCE

The experimental study of this work is developed in the laboratory scenario shown in Figure 3.12. A laboratory scenario has great adaptability for the identification of human-robot solutions, development of new methodologies, application of algorithms and evaluation of collaborative human-robot workstations [32].

The human supervisor plans the activities with one or more human operators, with one or more collaborative robots, tuning the task allocation between human and robot, giving visual feedback of the robot behavior to the human (using visual color lights) and information using pop up windows into the robot teach pendant.



Figure 3.12: Laboratory resources: the main task developed on a tablet and the secondary collaborative task of assembly with the robot on the left in the background

Figure 3.13 shows the workspace, which is divided into two areas. Area1 is where the operator executes the Tower of Hanoi game with five disks (TOH5). It is considered the Task 1, the main task for the operator. Area 2 is where the operator executes the Collaborative Assembly (CA) with the robot of the product. It is named Task 2, the secondary one. In the Area 1 the human is in the loop. The information processing system allows to the participant the visual feedback of the task developed. The participant can plan strategies and make decisions. The participant executes physical actions in a touch screen.



Figure 3.13: Human-robot collaborative workspace: Area 1 is on the left, with the primary task, demanding cognitive skills. Area 2 is on the right, a collaborative assembly task with low demanding cognitive and physical skills

If the participant pays attention to the Area 2, in this case the human is in the loop. The visual color lights alert to the participant if a human collaborative task is required. The participant can decide whether to leave Area 1 momentarily to go to Area 2. In this case the human is in the loop attending the assembly station.

Inside the Area 1 it is possible the design of cognitive tasks regarded with human capabilities. The Tower of Hanoi with 5 disks (TOH5) task is an example of problem solving (high-level reasoning capabilities) where people use mental skills and learning ability to achieve a successful solution [37, 34]. While the collaborative assembly task in Area 2 is a good example of pick and place task in industrial environment. It shows the eye-hand human coordination to achieve a successful solution. Hence, this work illustrates the idea that a human-robot collaborative task must include physical and cognitive aspects together.

Task 1. Tower of Hanoi (TOH5)

The objective of the task is to move the tower of disks from the first support to another support, see Figure 3.19, with the help of an intermediate support. The tower is segmented into disks, which are the ones that actually are moved to rebuild it again in the final position. This task must be performed in as few movements as possible and with as few errors as possible. Disk movements are conditioned by two constraints:

- It is not allowed to place a larger disk on top of a smaller one.
- You can only move the disks in the order in which they are placed in the tower, starting with the one at the top first.

In this study, the Tower of Hanoi is performed only by the human, using a digital version of this problem, available at Google Play HANOI 3D. This software allows the manipulation of the disks and records the number of moves and total time in seconds required to complete the task. It is proved that there is no experimental cognitive variation if either wood pieces or a digital version are used in experimental sessions [34]. Following the workload level evaluation scale in [28], this task is classified as appreciated mental workload because a human without a previous expertise in this game must develop plan and effective strategies. In fact, as a first contact with the Tower of Hanoi problem, the case with 3 disks is a challenge for many users. The difficulty of this task was previously tuned according to several early participants and a medium level of difficulty with 5 disks was decided.



Figure 3.14: Digital version of the Tower of Hanoi with five disks (TOH5) task

For the solution of the TOH task, the minimum number of moves is given by the formula 2^{n-1} , where n is the number of disks on tower number 1 at the beginning of the test [109]. Hence the TOH5 task can be optimally solved with 31 moves.

Task 2. Collaborative Assembly (CA)

The assembly area (Area 2) is where robotic work takes place in the process. Humans and robots should cooperate in order to simplify the job and make the overall system more efficient and productive [23]. The objective of this task is to collaborate in the assembly of a product composed of 3 components: a base, a bearing and a cap, as shown in Figure 3.20. The task is a priori classified as a low mental workload, from a human-centred perspective, because eye-hand coordinated skills are the more relevant in this task. The collaborative assembly task shows a low level of risk for the human and no action is required to decrease this risk.



Figure 3.15: Assembly process: on the left, the working area; on the right, the parts to be assembled into the product

Figure 3.20 shows the implementation of the assembly process using a collaborative robot from the company Universal Robots, model UR3. The difficulty of the programmed robot task was previously tuned experimenting with early participants and a medium level of difficulty for robot velocity was decided. The purpose is to allow the participant to approach the station and be able to intervene physically without compromising safety and performance.

Cycle of Work

In the workspace, the distribution of activities between the human operator and the collaborative robot (cobot) is shown in Table 3.19. Figure 3.16 shows an instance of the cycle of work for a participant.

Safety conditions

In the Human-Robot Collaborative Workplace, safe conditions are considered, different from traditional industrial robots. These specific safety requirements are:

Task	Activity	Operator
Task 1 Task 2	Solve problem TOH5 Get base	Human Cobot
Task 2	Get bearing	Cobot
Task 2	Get cap	Human
Task 2	Reload storage	Human
Task 2	Assembly product	Cobot
Task 2	Palletize product	Cobot

Table 3.19: Tasks and activities allocation in the human-robot collaborative workspace's experiment.



Assembly

Figure 3.16: Cycle of work in the Collaborative Assembly task (CA)

- Universal Robot's UR3 cobot has been designed to work in direct cooperation with humans within a defined workspace according to the ISO 10218-1: 2011 standard [113].
- 2. Maximum speeds and torque have been reduced as it can be seen in Table 3.20.
- 3. Virtual safety planes are defined for the cobot to reduce the workspace.
- 4. Visual indicators alert the operator of the robot's operating condition.

Τa	able 3.20: Mot	or operating condition	<u>s for the UR3 cob</u> ot
	Variable	Normal Mode	Maximum
	speed	$1500 \mathrm{~mm/s}$	5000 mm/s
	torque	150 N	250 N

Authors are not considering in this approach strategies and possibilities of collision between robot and human operator because human operator and robot do not physically coincide in the same spatial location in the case study [101]. In fact, the robot can wait the ending of the human operator activity before starting its work [123].

The different emerging technologies affecting the Operator 4.0 work environment and the very concept of human centrality motivate the need to search for a methodology which considers human values as part of the design process of any humanautomation type system.

3.4 Evaluate the design solutions

Periodically, researchers carry out the validity of methodological proposals in humanrobot interaction using several measures [108, 80]. According to the increasing presence of collaborative and intelligent robots in industry, standardized metrology for the performance measurement of human-robot (H-R) systems [73] is still needed in the manufacturing environment. Along with the development of robotic interfaces, there has been an increase in the evaluation of these systems. HRI researchers have employed a variety of evaluation styles in their work; they can evaluate their systems summatively (i.e., after-the-fact) or formatively (i.e., during system development). [16]

3.4.1 Sumative Evaluation

According to Clarkson, [16] the HRI Heuristic Validation is useful to make a summative evaluation, according to which eight heuristics are established.

- 1. Sufficient information design: The interface should be designed to convey "just enough" information: enough so that the human can determine if intervention is needed, and not so much that it causes overload.
- 2. Visibility of system status: The system should always keep users informed about what is going on, through appropriate feedback within reasonable time. The system should convey its world model to the user so that the user has a full understanding of the world as it appears to the system. The system should support the user's situational awareness.
- 3. Appropriate information presentation: The interface should present sensor information that is clear, easily understood, and in the form most useful to the user. The system should utilize the principle of recognition over recall, externalizing memory. The system should support attention management.
- 4. Use natural cues: The language of the interaction between the user and the system should be in terms of words, phrases and concepts familiar to the user, rather than system-oriented terms. Follow real-world conventions, making information appear in a natural and logical order.

- 5. Synthesis of system and interface: The interface and system should blend together so that the interface is an extension of the system, the user and by proxy, the world. The interface should facilitate efficient and effective communication between system and user and vice versa, switching modes automatically when necessary.
- 6. *Help users recognize, diagnose, and recover from errors*: System malfunctions should be expressed in plain language (no codes), precisely indicate the problem, and constructively suggest a solution. The system should present enough information about the task environment so that the user can determine if some aspect of the world has contributed to the problem.
- 7. Flexibility of interaction architecture If the system will be used over a lengthy period of time, the interface should support the evolution of system capabilities, such as sensor and actuator capacity, behavior changes and physical alteration. Sensor and actuator capabilities should be adequate for the system's expected tasks and environment.
- 8. Aesthetic and minimalist design The system should not contain information that is irrelevant or rarely needed. The physical embodiment of the system should be pleasing in its intended setting.

To validate these eight heuristics, the questionnaire show in Table 3.21. is proposed.

3.4.2 Formative Evaluation by HRI Metrics

Regarding HRI metrics, the usual human-centered interaction metrics consider *Effec*tiveness, *Efficiency* and *User satisfaction*. Metrics to be considered are, for instance, degree of success in completing a task, total task time, user physical load or mental

Heuristic	Question
H1. Sufficient information design	Has the designer considered all tasks and ac- tivities in the design?
H2. Visibility of system sta- tus	Is the operator informed about the progress of the system with the appropriate response and within an acceptable time?
H3. Appropriate informa- tion presentation	Does the system use concepts and language familiar to the operator rather than technical terms?
H4. Use natural cues	Do design elements, such as objects and ac- tions, have the same meaning or effect in dif- ferent situations?
H5. Synthesis of system and interface	Are the task methods efficient?
H6. Help users recognize, diagnose, and recover from errors	Is appropriate help provided and is the in- formation easy to find and focused on the operator's task?
H7. Flexibility of interac- tion architecture	Can the operator customize frequent actions or shortcuts?
H8. Aesthetic and minimal- ist design	Does the dialogue contain irrelevant or rarely used information?

Table 3.21: Questionnaire to evaluate heuristics

workload. These starting HRI metrics should be increased with metrics associated with the robot behavior, which in the industrial field are known as Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) as percentage of use of the robot, tasks successfully completed by the robot, task time. Some standardized metrics for task effectiveness and task efficiency are listed in Table 3.22.

Metric	Detail
Task effectiveness	
TSR	(H, R) Task Success Rate with respect to the total number of tasks in the activity
F	Frequency with which the human requests assistance to complete their tasks
Task efficiency	
CAT	Concurrent Activity Time (H-R): percentage of time that the two agents are active in the same time interval
TT	Time to complete a task (H, R)
IT	Idle Time: percentage of time the agent (H, R) is idle
FD	Functional Delay: percentage of time between tasks when changing the agent (H, R)

Table 3.22: Task effectiveness and task efficiency metrics for measuring performance of <u>human-robot interaction</u>.

Metrics to use in this experiment are show in Table 3.23

Table 3.23: Task effectiveness and task efficiency metrics for measuring performance of human-robot interaction in this experiment.

Metric	Detail
Task effectiveness	
TSR	(H, R) Task Success Rate with respect to the total number of tasks in the activity
Task efficiency	
ТТ	Time to complete a task (H, R)

For measuring user satisfaction in the interaction, qualitative questionnaires is the

main approach. In the application of satisfaction questionnaires, the need to adapt existing questionnaires in human-computer interaction to a broader scope should be addressed. As a starting point, a first approach is to adapt questions from questionnaire models, such as the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) [18], System Usability Scale (SUS) [10], Fluency (Subjective Fluency Metrics) [42] and the Part C questionnaire on comfort in ISO 9241-420 Table D.1 [54]. To facilitate the use of these heuristics, a consensus scale is required. For example, a 5-point Likert scale, where in many of the heuristics the ends of the scale are 'Strongly disagree' and 'Strongly agree'. These cited qualitative metrics for measuring interaction from the user satisfaction perspective are partial since once an H-R task is defined, the synergy between each of the agents involved leads to a broader model that must consider the overall performance and teamwork fluency [43, 38], that is quantitative measures used about effectiveness and efficiency.

Our proposal is defending to quantitatively measure the overall satisfaction of the interaction, that is user satisfaction, but also 'task satisfaction', by using *variability* in the task efficiency metric *Time to Task*, (TT). That is, we propose to move from both, direct quantitative robotics and qualitative human measures to the overall product or process quality evaluation.

3.4.3 Metrics for Product/Process Quality Evaluation: Variability

The product or process quality evaluation aims to investigate if a task or an activity requires improvements in terms of standardization and reduction of process instability or variability [33, 84]. From a manufacturing approach, variability is defined as an inherent process deviation from a nominal value. In [33], process variability is identified as a coefficient of variation CV,

$$CV = \frac{\sigma}{mv} \tag{3.3}$$

where σ is the standard deviation and mv is the mean value of time data or success rate data. As a consequence, variability is a negative situation which requires a more controlled condition to achieve the designed process and product quality values [99]. In order to ensure the product quality and save manufacturing costs, growing attention has been paid to the problem of the stability of the manufacturing process with unknown probability distribution and trend [122].



Figure 3.17: Analyzing process variability in human-robot collaborative tasks and task allocation.

The collaboration of workers in automated tasks using cobots improves product quality and process results, but introduces such a kind of unknown/unpredictable variability, specially in time execution for activities. Once all activities are mapped and measured, it is useful to identify a list of them which present a high level of process variability PV (see Figure 3.17). The amount of process variability can be categorized ('Low PV', 'Medium PV', High PV') according to either, previously registered dispersion in the measures (data-driven), activity modelling in simulation (model driven), or both in the case of digital twins [12]. In case to detect a certain amount of variability, cognitive assistance to the worker can be employed to provide a set of recommendations related with timing, checking accuracy, training for novice workers, modifications in the order. In a qualitative manner, cognitive assistance is related to process variability. After a new execution phase and collected data, variability is again measured and task allocation is reconsidered.

3.4.4 Usability Test Plan

When a new collaborative robot is introduced into production, tasks under development change from the point of view of the human operator. It is necessary to evaluate how these changes affect human operator behavior, measure and analyze humanrobot collaboration tasks in detail. With this goal in mind and to take advantage of the experience in the field of human-computer interaction, a Usability evaluation is carried out, following some guidelines for its planning and execution, which have been collected by Norman Nielsen Group in their article "Checklist for Planning Usability Studies" (at https://www.nngroup.com/articles/usability-test-checklist/) The Figure3.18 show this planning.

Define Goals for the Study

The purpose of a usability test is, giving a specific context of use, measure the performance of a system in terms of task effectiveness, efficiency and satisfaction. Thus, the necessary feedback is provided to help decision-making in the redesign of systems. In particular, in this work a collaborative workspace is considered where the operator is developing a main task. It is supposed that the operator have some experience in this main task and the workspace is correctly designed. Next, the operator is required



Figure 3.18: Usability Test Plan for HWRCE.

for developing a secondary task, implying collaboration with a robot. The general objective of the usability test in this scenario would be to evaluate the usability of the workspace when a secondary collaborative task with cobots is added to the operator.

The usability of the proposed human-robot collaborative workspace's experience (HRCWE) is evaluated on the basis of the international usability standard ISO 9241-11 [54] which takes into account both, objective and subjective metrics. According to this standard, the effectiveness and efficiency of usability is evaluated through the measurement of *Task to Time*, that is, the time in seconds to complete a task and *Task Completion rate* as the percentage of tasks that users complete correctly, performed by each participant while performing the tasks. In addition to these objective measures, a questionnaire has been developed to evaluate subjective usability using the System Usability Scale (SUS) whose definition is based on psychometric methods [67].

What the usability test is not designed to achieve Our proposed usability test is not oriented to evaluate the design characteristics of the implemented prototype, nor its productive performance. Moreover, this test is focused in early steps of design, and not in final launch of products to the market. Human factors and ergonomics use too the same orientation in early steps of design. The aim is to use the collaborative robot as a partner not as a substitute of human operator. Thus, the context implies the formation of human-robot teams, each contributing with their best skills [110].

Determine the Format and Setting of the Study

Specifying the study's characteristics is the first step in a study of usability, to specify the context of use where the experimental study will be carried out, the description of the process, the type of participants, and the academic purpose of the workspace [59, 76].

Context of use: In this case, the experience is designed in a University laboratory, participants being recruited among students and teaching staff laboring in this environment. The laboratory endows two identical robot stations and a set of computer workplaces. It is designed to introduce students in the managing of collaborative robots in two training steps: the first one is understand the robot and how programming it, and the second step is adopting the role of human operator in a realistic scenario.

The human-robot collaborative workspace experience (HRCWE) is based on a prototype implemented in the laboratory with the aim of developing teaching and research on the relationships between humans and robots. In particular, in collaborative mode, with a focus on the cognitive and mental tasks of the human operator. Certainly, the use of a collaborative robot facilitates physical interaction with humans. However, the cognitive and mental aspects should not be underestimated. The perception of the human regarding the complexity of the task, or the trust that the human places in the robot are also relevant elements.

Location and dates The address of the test facility is: Automatic Control Department , FIB Faculty, Automatic Control Department Laboratory C5-202, Universitat

Politècnica Catalunya Barcelona Tech. Authors plan to test participants according to the schedule shown in Table 3.24.

	Table 9.24. Deneur	ine of experim	ienus.
Time	Monday	Wednesday	7 Thursday
09:00- 11:00	Pilot Test- ing	Participant	Participant
11:00- 13:00		Participant	Participant
14:00- 16:00		Participant	Participant

Table 3.24: Schedule of experiments.

Test facilities The experimental equipment under consideration is shown in Table 3.25.

Name	Description	Use
Tablet	Android system with dig- ital version of TOH5 (HANOI3D)	Task 1 TOH5
Collaborative Robot	Robot Model UR3 with controller CB3. Man- ufactured by Universal Robot	Task 2 Collaborative As- sembly (CA)
Laptop	Intel Core i5, Windows 10 Operating System	Data collection and log- ging
Web Cam	External, high definition	Get video of the experi- ment
Software	Cam video recorder, Vi- sual Components v4.2	Record video of the ex- periment and record data of the collaborative robot

Table 3.25: Experimental equipment.

Determine the Number of Users

This experiment is quantitative, so the number of participants chosen for this usability test is 20 users, who are characterized as novice users.

Recruit the Right Participants

The roles involved in a usability test are as follows. It is worth noting that an individual may play multiple roles and tests may not require all roles.

• Participants: Participants are University's bachelor students and some teaching staff. The participants' responsibilities are attempting to complete a set of representative task scenarios presented to them in as efficient and timely a manner as possible, and to provide feedback regarding the usability and acceptability of the experience. The participants are addressed to provide honest opinions regarding the usability of the application, and to participate in post-session subjective questionnaires. These participants have good skills in engineering methods, computer science and programming. They do not have previous knowledge about collaborative robots and how manage human-robot activities.

The form *Participants* in Appendix A.1 contains a recruitment form to be used to recruit suitable participants. The more relevant elements in this form are:

- Participant inclusion questions
- Participant exclusion questions
- Participant experience questions
- Main facilitator General facilitator 's responsibilities are to:
 - Write the test plan
 - Organize the recruitment of suitable participants
 - Preserve ethical aspects
 - Prepare the workspace for the development of the experimentation
 - Show the task instructions to the user
 - Record the data of the experiment

- Analyse usability test data
- Summarize the results in a usability report

The facilitator must supervise the ethical and psychological consequences for research participants. Any foreseeable effect on their psychological well-being, health, values or dignity must be considered and, in the case of judging it negative, even to a minimal degree, eliminated [51]. From a robotic perspective, roboethics has as objective the development of technical tools that can be shared by different social groups. These tools aim to promote and encourage the development of robotics and to help preventing its misuse against humankind [115]. The facilitator must ensure that the test can be carried out effectively. To do this, previously set the level of difficulty for the Tower of Hanoi solution – in this case 5 disks–, adjust the speed of the collaborative robot's movement and program the cobot's task.

Ethics All participants involved with the usability test are required to adhere to the following ethical guidelines:

- The performance of any test participant must not be individually attributable. Individual participant's name should not be used in reference outside the testing session.
- A description of the participant's performance should not be reported to his or her manager.

Considering that this study involves work with humans, the usability plan has been endorsed by the Ethics Committee of the UPC with the identification code 2021-06.

Write Tasks of the Study

To evaluate the effects on the human operator when a collaborative human-robot task is added in the original workspace, a workplace composed of two tasks is defined, in particular with a focus on assembly tasks. The workspace tasks are:

• Task 1: Tower of Hanoi The original task for the human operator is about solving the Tower of Hanoi (TOH5) with five pieces. This problem consists of five perforated disks of increasing radius stacked by inserting them into one of the three posts fixed to a board, as seen in Figure 3.19. The objective is to move one disk from the first pole to another one, making only one move at a time and placing a bigger disk on top of a smaller one. The Tower of Hanoi puzzle, was established as a robotics challenge as a part of EU Robotics coordination action in 2011 and IEEE IROS Conference in 2012. In our experiment, the Tower of Hanoi is performed only by the human operator.



Figure 3.19: Digital version of the Tower of Hanoi problem with five disks, named TOH5.

A digital version of the TOH is used, available at Google Play HANOI 3D. This program allows manipulating the disks and records the number of moves and total time in seconds required to complete the task. No experimental cognitive variation exists if either wood pieces or a digital version is used [34].

• Task 2: Collaborative assembly of a product The introduced secondary task consists of collaborative assembling (CA) of a product composed of 3 components: a base, a bearing and a cap, as shown in Figure 3.20. The task is classified as adding a low cognitive workload, from a human-centred perspective, because eye-hand coordinated skills are the more relevant in this task. Moreover, the assembly task shows a low level of physical risk for the human and no action is necessary to decrease this risk.



Figure 3.20: Collaborative assembly elements in the secondary process.

Pilot testing:

The purpose of the pilot test is to identify and reduce potential sources of error and fix any technical issue with the recording equipment or with the experiment that might cause delays to the current experiment. It is expected that pilot test take two hours, at maximum. The problems found would be immediately fixed. Observers are not invited due to the nature of the pilot.

3.4.5 Collecting Metrics

In a benchmark test, the usability of products is made measurable and enables a comparison with the competition. Based on different metrics, the usability dimensions, that is effectiveness, efficiency, and user satisfaction [54] are assessed and summarized into a meaningful overall score.

Data collection and metrics A dataset with data collected from experiments is organized as shown in Figure 3.21. A set of statistical measures and tests available in the tool Usability Statistics Packages¹ [124] are used for dataset analysis.



Figure 3.21: Organization of the dataset for the experimental study.

Task effectiveness and efficiency

The quantitative component involves handling of numerical variables and use of statistical techniques to guard against random events. This quantitative component includes information about the statistical significance of the results.

Effectiveness The efficiency is evaluated using the *Task Completion rate* measure. For this binary variable, a maximum error of 10% of the optimal number of moves needed to solve the problem is set. Hence, it is coded with 1 (pass) for participants who solve the task and 0 (fail) for those who do not solve it.

Efficiency To evaluate efficiency, the *Time to Task* measure is obtained from dataset associated to TOH5. Only participants who completed the task are considered and the analysis is made with the mean values obtained from each participation.

¹Jeff Sauro's formulation available in http://www.measuringusability.com/products/statsPak

Satisfaction The System Usability Scale (SUS) is used to evaluate the level of user satisfaction. The advantage of using SUS is that it is comparatively quick, easy and inexpensive, whilst still being a reliable way of gauging usability. Moreover, the SUS questionnaire allows to provide us with a measure of people's subjective perceptions of the usability of the experience in the very short time available during evaluation sessions.

However, interpreting SUS scoring can be complex. The participant's scores for each question are converted to a new number, added together and then multiplied by 2.5 to convert the original scores of 0-40 to 0-100. Though the scores are 0-100, these are not percentages and should be considered only in terms of their percentile ranking [5, 100]. A way to interpret SUS score is to convert it into a grade or adjective [5], as shown in Figure 3.22.



Figure 3.22: Grade rankings of SUS scores adapted from [5].

Key Performance Indicators for cobot To evaluate the CA task, that is the secondary task in the experimental scenario, some Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) have been collected, based in KPIs defined for cobots in [9]. Table 3.26 shows the definitions used in this work.

Table 3.26: KPIs referred to cobots.	
KPI	Definition
Cuele Time	Cycle Time measures the duration of one
	cobot sequence
Cycled Com-	How many cycles have been performed by the
pleted	cobot in a particular time period
Don Utilization	How long a cobot is being used compared to
Per Utilization	how long it could
	It defines the percentage of time that the
Per Efficiency	cobot performs productive work while run-
	ning a program
Wait Time	The percentage of time that the cobot is
wait 11me	waiting while it is running a program

The data gathering procedure to calculate cobot's KPIs has been implemented through a tool for obtaining the values of the variables recorded in the robot through the communication protocol with an external desktop. The values for *Cycle Time*, *Wait Time*, *Products* as the number of assembled products, and *Bases* as the number of bases, are acquired using this tool. It is shown in Figure 3.23 an example employing the Visual Components software so this information is saved as an electronics sheet, for KPI analysis. The *CapTime* in the Figure 3.23 is the operator's time to place the cap. This value will be considered as the idle time of the robot and also the *Human Operator Time*, since the robot is stopped.



Figure 3.23: Time data and raw material sent from cobot UR3.

Video recording Experimental sessions are recorded on video, hence the facilitator can later measure events like: operator travel time from one task to another, how many times the operator check whether the robot has finished, the right development of user actions in the assembly task.

While the user is developing the Tower of Hanoi task, the robot is working placing bases and bearings (red light). The vertical column of lights indicates with a green light when the presence of the user is required. The video recording can show if the user is paying attention to the column of lights or concentrating on the Tower of Hanoi task.

As a further analysis in collaborative human robot stations, video recording allows the observation of repetitive hand and arm movements that allow risk analysis and physical ergonomic assessment of the task.

Usability Sessions

Each participant session will be organized in the same way to facilitate consistency. Users will be interviewed at the end of the tasks. **Introduction:** The main facilitator begins by emphasizing that the testing is being carried out by a Ph.D. student. This means that users can be critical of the experience without feeling that they are criticizing the designer. The main facilitator is not asking leading questions. The main facilitator explains that the purpose of the testing is to obtain measures of usability, such as effectiveness, efficiency and user satisfaction, when working with collaborative robots. It is made clear that it is the system, not the user, that is being tested, so that if they have trouble it is the workspace's problem, not theirs.

Pre-test interview At the beginning of the experiment it is explained to the participant, about the experience, which are his/her tasks, how the experiment is developed, Appendix A.3 is used for this, and that at the end of the experiment there is one questionnaire to be answered.

Participants will sign an informed consent that acknowledges: participation is voluntary, participation can cease at any time, and session will be videotaped but their privacy of identification will be safeguarded. The facilitator will ask the participant if they have any questions. The form *Consent form* in Appendix A.2 is used for this aim. The more relevant aspects of this form are:

- Description of objectives in the experiment
- Safety explanation for the participant
- Participant's rights

Next, the facilitator explains that the amount of time taken to complete the test task is measured and that exploratory behavior outside the task flow should not occur until after task completion. Time-on-task measurement begins when the participant starts the task. The facilitator presents a demonstration to the user according to the guide *Demonstrations* in Appendix A.4. The more relevant aspects of this form are:

- Demonstration of the use of the Tower of Hanoi game on the tablet
- Demonstration of operator involvement in product assembly

After all tasks are attempted, the participant completes the post-test satisfaction questionnaire.

Case Study The experimental scenario is composed of two tasks within the HRWCE. The main task is Task 1 TOH5; a secondary task is added, Task 2 Collaborative Assembly (CA), as an additional human-robot collaboration task (see Figure 3.24). Table 3.27 shows the conditions of performance for the tasks. Time allocated for this scenario is 15 minutes.



Figure 3.24: Scenario of the experience. Left, the TOH5 task, the main one, is performed. Right, the CA secondary collaborative Assembly task is being developed.

Task	Performance	Total Time
TOH5	Maximum number of TOH5 replays with 31 moves	15 minutes
СА	At least 7 work cycles completed	

The objective for the participant in the task TOH5 is to perform as many replays as possible. The secondary task, Collaborative Assembly, is related with responding to requests for collaboration from the cobot, which are indicated by the green light of the beacon in the assembly area. Both, time that human takes to place caps is save as *Wait Time* and *Cycle time* are recorded in a data table as the one shown in Table 3.28, jointly with figures for Task 1 when the operator is in the experimental scenario. In the collaborative assembly task, the activities of the participant, are:

- performing quality control of the assembly process
- place the caps on the sub-assembly zone
- feeding the base and bearing warehouses

Operator		Cobot	;	
	Time		Wait	Cycle
${ m Replay} { m N_moves}$	to Task	Cycle	Time	Time
	(sec)		(sec)	(sec)
1		1		

Table 3.28: Form to Experimental Scenario (TOH5+CA). Tasks: Solve problem (main) and Collaborate with cobot (secondary).

Adapted post-test questionnaire At the end of the experience the participant answers the adapted System Usability Scale (SUS) as the satisfaction questionnaire shown in Table4.14 . As it has been shown [17], SUS can be applied to a wide range of technologies. This feature allows the questionnaire to be adapted to this particular experiment. In the SUS standard questionnaire, the word 'system' has been changed to 'human-robot collaborative workspace' because it is not a human-computer task but a human-robot task. A medium or low SUS score means that is necessary a discussion and effort redesign the experiment.

3.4.6 Cognitive Interaction

The evaluation of mental workload is a key issue to research and develop for human machine interfaces, as well as to find levels of comfort, satisfaction, efficiency, and security in the workplace [98]. Moreover, some researchers explain in detail how important the cognitive load and the mental workload are in the design of workplaces for assembly tasks [114]. A laboratory scenario in a manufacturing context has been designed to create an environment where humans can work side-by-side with robots in close proximity [117]. The human operator facilitates the assembly task carried out by the robot since it feeds the station with parts, collects the products and attends to any possible malfunction. The variation of the human operator's mental workload is evaluated when switching from a main task into a secondary task in this human-robot collaboration workspace scenario. The general objective of the test in this scenario is to evaluate the variation of mental workload, when the mental workload of the operator is increased due to regular time-constrained collaborations with a robot. Our hypothesis is that when the operator performs the collaborative task with the robot, the mental workload value is not very far from the mental workload of the main task. Moreover, both values would be in an intermediate comfort zone of mental workload. If tasks are designed in which the perceived mental workload is in an intermediate zone, quality in performance and decision-making in problem solving are guaranteed [107].

Experiment on Cognitive Workload

Experiments took place at the Teaching Laboratory of the Automatic Control Department of the Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya, Barcelona Tech (North Campus, FIB Faculty, Barcelona, Spain).

Following the hypothesis explained at the beginning of this section and the tasks detailed in Table 3.19, two working scenarios are designed:

- Working Scenario 1 (TOH5): The participant only executes Task 1, without distractions, using a tablet for this end, as seen in Figure 3.25.
- Working Scenario 2 (TOH5+CA): The participant executes a combination of the two tasks. The main task is TOH5 and also collaborates with the cobot in activities of Task 2, according to the work cycle in Table 3.19 (see Figure 3.26).



Figure 3.25: Working Scenario 1 (TOH5): the operator works on Task 1 (TOH5) without distractions.



Figure 3.26: Working Scenario 2 (TOH5+CA): the operator works with divided attention on the main task (TOH5) and a secondary task (CA).

Participants

Data in both scenarios were collected from 18 participants. Among the participants there were undergraduate students, vocational students, and teaching staff. Details about them are shown in Table 3.29. Nobody had previous experience working with cobots.

Table 5.29. 1 attripants.					
Туре	Number	Gender	Age (Years)	Percent	
2*Undergraduate stu- dents	10	male	22-26	55%	
	2	female	22 - 24	11%	
Vocational students	2	male	18-20	11 %	
Teaching staff	4	male	40-50	23 %	
Total	18	-	-	100 %	

Procedure

The participant's study is composed of two main steps: demo and test.

• Demo. As a first step, a facilitator provides each participant with a brief demonstration, usually about 2–3 min long, about the main functionalities of the experience.

• Test. For each test, the participant works on the two defined working scenarios.

During the test, both scenarios are considered by the participant: firstly, Scenario 1 for 6 min, then Scenario 2 for 15 min, fulfilling the objectives described in Table 3.30.

Scenario	s Task	Activities	Goals	Time	
Scenario 1	TOH5	The participant solves the TOH5 problem	Solve the problem with 31 moves	6 min	
Scenario 2	TOH5+C	The participant solves the TOH5 problem And responds to re- quests for collabora- tion from the robot	Solve the problem with 31 moves and complete 9 cycles of work with cobot	15 min	

Table 3.30: Experimental tasks and activities.

A facilitator supervised the test and took notes about the time expended by the participants during the performance of each task. When tasks were completed, each participant was invited to fill a NASA TLX index questionnaire form about the proposed experience.

Measure

There are several mental workload physiological metrics to be taken into consideration, for instance, heart rate, pupil dilation, respiration rate, skin temperature and fundamental frequency [39, 79]. In the participants' study presented in this paper, the authors used a subjective mental workload measure through the adoption of the NASA TLX index standard questionnaire. It allows deriving the overall workload score based on a weighted average of ratings on six subscales: mental demand, physical demand, temporal demand, performance, effort, and frustration level. This questionnaire is an effective tool for the study of the mental workload.

[25] The questionnaire form was derived from the app NASA TLX index v1.8.2 (see Figures 3.27 and 3.28). As shown in Figure 3.27, the participant must fill in the

two questionnaires, one for the working scenario 1 (TOH5) and the other for scenario 2 (TOH5+CA).

	🗟 🕴 📽 🛸 27% 🗎 13:55
TLX NASA TLX	⊘ :
NOMBRE	
Participant	
Tarea #1 HANOI TOOWERS Game without distractions	>
Tarea #2 ASSEMBLY PROCESS Work collaborative	>

Figure 3.27: NASA TLX index app with the two forms defined.

A description for each of these subscales was provided to help participants answer accurately. They are rated for each task within a 100-point range with 5-point steps. These ratings are then combined with the task workload index. These scales and descriptions are shown in Table 3.31.
Rate workload sources SOURCES OF WORKLOAD On each of the following 15 screens, tap on the scale title that represents the more important contributor to workload for the task.
SOURCES OF WORKLOAD On each of the following 15 screens, tap on the scale title that represents the more important contributor to workload for the task.
PHYSICAL DEMAND How much physical activity was required (e.g. pushing, pulling, turning, controlling, activity Was the task easy or demanding, slow or brisk, slack or strenuous, restful or laborious?
OR FRUSTRATION How insecure, discouraged, irritated, stressed and annoyed versus secure, gratified, content, relaxed and complacent did you feel during the task?
FINISH

Figure 3.28: Example NASA TLX index app. On the right, the range of sub-scales, and on the left, the weight of the pair of sub-scales.

Subscale	Endpoints	Descriptions
Mental Demand	Low/High	How much mental and perceptual ac- tivity was required? Was the task easy or demanding, simple or complex?
Physical Demand	Low/High	How much physical activity was re- quired? Was the task easy or demand- ing, slack or strenuous?
Temporal Demand	Low/High	How much time pressure did you feel due to the pace at which the tasks or task elements occurred? Was the pace slow or rapid?
Overall Performance	Low/High	How successful were you in performing the task? How satisfied were you with your performance?
Effort	Low/High	How hard did you have to work (men- tally and physically) to accomplish your level of performance?
Frustration Level	Low/High	How irritated, stressed, and annoyed versus content, relaxed, and compla- cent did you feel during the task?

Table 3.31: Rating scale definitions for the NASA TLX index standard questionnaire.

Chapter 4

Results of Experimentation

This chapter presents the results obtained, firstly those obtained through simulation, and then those of the real case in the HRCWE prototype.

4.1 Results from simulated experiment

This section shows the results obtained through the simulation of the three scenarios.

- Fully manual task
- Fully automated task with a robot
- Collaborative task Human and robot

4.1.1 Execution in a Simulated Environment

Experimentation in the Manual Assembly task is performed as described according to the associated activities. Variability for process *Time* and product *Quality* is evaluated. Using the FRAM approach, the task is simulated (in a Flexsim software scenario) under several contexts of use. Some distribution functions for variability will be used to perform a realistic simulation of an industry assembly task. Before starting the simulation a virtual basic version of the process has been created using the RoboDK simulation software to obtain realistic completion times for each activity, these will be considered as references for the process. Results are shown in Table 4.1.

Function	Time
<assembly product=""></assembly>	3.3 s
<assembly< td=""><td>$1.0 \mathrm{~s}$</td></assembly<>	$1.0 \mathrm{~s}$
BEARING_BASE>	
<get base=""></get>	$1.9 \mathrm{~s}$
<get bearing=""></get>	$2.0 \mathrm{~s}$
<get cap=""></get>	$2.3 \mathrm{\ s}$
Time to Task, mv_t	10.6 s

Table 4.1: Time to <u>Task values obtained from the Rob</u>oDK virtual model.

Using the FRAM methodology, two variation characteristics are considered in a straightforward form, *Time*, expressed as for Time to Task (in seconds) and *Quality*, defined as the Percentage of High-quality Products Completed (in %).

For the simulation, two types of distribution functions are used. The operator takes different time periods to perform operations about take and place the different parts for the assembly. Time for these operations tends to be greater than the average value for robot, thus affecting downstream in the assembly process and increasing the total production time of the parts. Following the recommendations of experts in manufacturing modelling [91], a *lognormal* distribution is used for this type of cases (see Table 4.2). The Mean variation value ($\Delta mv = 0s$), that is how much time, in mean, is used for the different kind of operators for each activity, is not modified. Hence, there is not difference in how fast are operators completing activities. However, standard deviation increases when expertness operator decreases. In this form, for the study, only variability is affecting *Time* process.

Function	Type Opera-	Value
	tor	
Log-	Expert	$\Delta mv = 0s, \ \sigma = 3s$
Normal()		
	Standard	$\Delta mv = 0s, \ \sigma = 4s$
	Novice	$\Delta mv = 0s, \ \sigma = 5s$

Table 4.2: Values used in distribution functions for *Time*, the same for all the functions.

Variations in the assembly process affect product Quality, in this case between High quality and Typical quality values. For this case, according to [91], a Bernoulli distribution function is used (see Table 4.3). It is considered that 98% of products are High quality when activities are performed by an expert operator. This percentage decreases to 90% and 80% for the case of standard and novice operators, respectively.

 Table 4.3: Values used in distribution functions for Quality, the same for all the functions.

Function	Type Opera- tor	Output
$\operatorname{Bernoulli}()$	Expert	98 % High Quality
		products
	Standard	90 % High Quality
		products
		products
	Novice	80 % High Quality
		products

For the simulation the Flexsim software has been configured with a working time of 3600s, that is one hour, and a total of 30 replicates per experiment, to avoid bias from the probability distribution.

4.1.2 Results on Task Indicators

In this section the results for task indicators (Time to Task and Percentage of products finished with high quality) are shown using simple statistics (mean and standard deviation).

Scenario 1. Fully manual task

For the first scenario it is considered that only one operator develop activities. It can be observed how mean time mv_t and its standard deviation σ_t for completing the task increases as the level of expertise decreases (see Table 4.4). It should be noted that it was supposed that all the operators are identically fast performing activities $(\Delta mv = 0)$. Thus, variability introduces delays in the task performance from 11.87 seconds to complete a task, in the case of an expert operator, to 13.77 and 15.20 seconds, for the other two cases. In this form, an expert operator is able to complete 173 products in one hour, a standard one is completing 152 products and a novice operator is only completing 138 products.

Type Oper-	$mv_t(s)$	$\sigma_t(s)$	$mv_Q(\%)$	$\sigma_Q(\%)$
ator				
Expert	11.87	0.43	98%	3.01
Standard	13.77	0.57	90%	3.79
Novice	15.20	0.81	80%	4.03

Table 4.4: Scenario 1: Results for Time (mv_t, σ_t) and Quality (mv_Q, σ_Q) .

As it could be expected, mean quality mv_Q is similar to the default percentages assigned for each type of operator (see Table 4.3). However, it is worth to note how standard deviation for high product quality σ_Q gets significantly high values for all the type of operators, showing clearly how time variability impacts on final product *Quality*.

Scenario 2. Fully automated task with a robot

For this fully automated scenario, it is considered for the cobot that starting from the typical/normal condition, an optimization upgrade allows increase its speed by 20%, and so is the result for mv_t , as displayed in Table 4.5. Besides, no time deviation is considered, as it is the usual high precision case in industrial robotics, therefore σ_t gets a null value as result.

Table 4.5: Scenario 2: Results for *Time* (mv_t, σ_t) and *Quality* (mv_Q, σ_Q) .

Type Oper-	$mv_t(s)$	$\sigma_t(s)$	$mv_Q(\%)$	$\sigma_Q(\%)$
ator				
Optimized	10.0	0.0	79%	3.14
Basic	11.0	0.0	79%	3.50

Our hypothesis is that the cobot is not well prepared for this new task, because some decorative specifications are asked for the user that the robot is not able so sense. This is the reason why human operators are helping in the assembly process. Consequently, the mean value used in the distribution function for high quality products is 79%, below novice operator. Consequently, a similar mv_Q is obtained as result for both type of cobots. It is worth to note that standard deviation value is higher for the basic operator than for the upgraded (faster) one. Hence, high quality is not downgraded because faster processing.

Scenario 3. The process is executed in a collaborative manner, humanrobot shared task

The implementation of the MABA-MABA (Men-Are-Better-At/Machines-Are-Better-At) strategy has been carried out in this scenario, as a result of which there are 6 possible cases, as observed in Table 4.6. For the implementation of the cases the

Т	able 4.6: Scenari	o 3: Results for	Time (mu	(v_t, σ_t) and	Quality	$(mv_Q, \sigma_Q).$
	Operator	Operator	$mv_t(s)$	$\sigma_t(s)$	$mv_Q(\%)$	$\sigma_Q(\%)$
	(R)	(H)				
	Basic	Expert	11.03	0.18	98%	2.96
		Standard	11.93	0.25	89%	2.99
		Novice	12.43	0.50	79%	3.39
	Optimized	Expert	10.93	0.25	98%	3.07
		Standard	11.03	0.18	90%	3.04
		Novice	11.80	0.41	79%	3.43

ETTO [45] (Efficiency-Thoroughness Trade-Off) principle has been maintained.

For this collaborative scenario, mv_t values are ever higher than the ones for the fully automated scenario. No significant time increase is observed for the Basic cobot, hence humans are not delaying too much the product completion. However, this is the case for the optimised cobot case, for all the type of human operators. As a first conclusion, optimise cobots are not worthy for the collaborative scenario in this assembly task. The standard deviation is reduced from the totally manual scenario, as it is expected because cobots are not inserting variability.

For the measure of *Quality*, it is important to highlight how percentages of high quality products mv_Q in this collaborative scenario are very similar to the ones in the totally manual scenario. That is, the human-robot shared task allows to outperform the low percentage due to the use of only cobots due to the dexterous expertise of the human operators.

In Figure 4.1 the boxplot for the variation of the Time to Task for 30 replicates is shown in a workspace composed of a Human Operator (Expert, Standard, Novice) and the Robot Operator set Basic, in this image you can see a greater variability in the novice operator. A similar boxplot figure is displayed in Figure 4.2 for the percentage of high quality products. For this scenario, quality is more related to the characteristics that the operator imposes on the process, which is why there is greater variability for each case.



Figure 4.1: *Time* variation with Operator Robotic Basic in Scenario 3



Figure 4.2: Quality variation with Operator Human Standard in Scenario 3

4.2 Results from Heuristics Evaluation on HRCWE

Prior to the implementation of the HCRWE the evaluation of the preliminary design is carried out, through the questionnaire show in Table 4.7

With these results we have a validated design to start working with.

Heuristic	Question	Answer
H1. Sufficient infor- mation design	Has the designer considered all tasks and activities in the design?	All task are analyzed and all activities re- view
H2. Visibility of sys- tem status	Is the operator informed about the progress of the sys- tem with the appropriate re- sponse and within an accept- able time?	Feedback is send to operator by LED's tower and tech- pendant on robot
H3. Appropriate information presenta- tion	Does the system use concepts and language familiar to the operator rather than techni- cal terms?	The name of piece and name of activities is standard
H4. Use natural cues	Do design elements, such as objects and actions, have the same meaning or effect in dif- ferent situations?	Pick and Place is de- fined in same manner for all activities.
H5. Synthesis of system and interface	Are the task methods efficient?	The activities has low workload for operator
H6. Help users recog- nize, diagnose, and re- cover from errors	Is appropriate help provided and is the information easy to find and focused on the oper- ator's task?	The errors are mini- mal and easy to re- cover from error
H7. Flexibility of in- teraction architecture	Can the operator customize frequent actions or shortcuts?	the operator is free to decide to who activi- ties can do it.
H8. Aesthetic and minimalist design	Does the dialogue contain ir- relevant or rarely used infor- mation?	The minimal interven- tion additional is nec- essary.

Table 4.7: Questionnaire to evaluate heuristics

4.3 Results from Real Experimentation on HRCWE

The results are presented according to the planned methodology, Figure 4.3, shows the organization of results, for usability the results of the usability plan are presented, then the results of the cognitive workload will be presented, to finish with metrics of the robot and the human-robot team.



Figure 4.3: Organization of results presented

4.3.1 Usability Results in the HCRWE

Out of the seventeen participants, three are discarded as they have not correctly completed the proposed questionnaires A.1. For this reason, results on fourteen participants are presented (n=14). For the analysis the following values are configured, the statistical significance level set at p < 0.05, and confidence level is 95%.

Effectiveness The next 'pass and fail' histograms show the results in solving the tasks within the HRCWE: the histogram in Figure 4.4 shows 11 participants solving Task 1 (TOH5) and the histogram in Figure 4.5 shows the results of the human-robot

(H-R) team in solving task 2. Values for *Task Completion rate* are calculated using the equation

$$Task Completion rate = \frac{\text{Number of participants with successfully task}}{\text{Total number of participants undertaken}}$$
(4.1)

according to experimental results shown in Table 4.8.



Figure 4.4: Histogram of fail and pass for tasks TOH5.



Figure 4.5: Histogram of fail and pass for tasks CA (Collaborative Assembly)

Table 4.8	: Statistics	Task Com	pletion rate	
	TOH5		\mathbf{CA}	
Success	11		13	
n	14		14	
TaskComple-tion rate	78.6 %		92.9%	
Confidence In- terval	Low	High	Low	High
	51.70%	93.2%	66.5%	100%
Benchmark	56%			
p-value	0.044		0.002	

Sauro and Lewis experience states that a *Task Completion r ate* lower than 56% could indicate a very low level of trustness for this variable. Results show a a superior level in both tasks (p - value = 0.044 and 0.002).

Results for the *Task Completion rate* level for TOH5 have a mean value of 78.6%. Based on benchmark with percentile Jeff Sauro, locate this value at percentile 50, this value is acceptable as it is a first experience of the participant, however for a continuous work it is necessary to improve this value. The *Task Completion rate* level for the CA on 70% could be considered standard given the characteristics of human participation in the human-robot task.

Efficiency To evaluate the efficiency, the *Time to Task* variable is analysed. Firstly, with all the data obtained from experiment a percentile scale is generated with five ranges for the variable defined as shown in Table 4.9, according to the time spent in

solving it.

Percentile	Time to Ta (sec)	ask
	TOH5	$\mathbf{C}\mathbf{A}$
10	23	102
50	44	107
75	66	113
90	93	116
98	¿94	¿120

Table 4.9: Percentiles in Time to Task to resolve TOH5 and CA

Task 1 (TOH5) is firstly analyzed. Statistical results for *Time to Task* are shown in Table reftab:Efficiency Scoring, with a mean value of 56.2 sec bring above the percentile 50%. This table also shows values of the coefficient of variation (CV) (see Eq. 4.2), for the *Time to Task*. Task 1 (TOH5), with a value of 0.42 represents a high level of variation, as a result of solving the task only with human participation.

$$CV = \frac{\text{standard deviation}}{\text{mean value}} \tag{4.2}$$

Table 4.10: Statistic	<u>cs of <i>Time to Ta</i></u>	usk for Task 1.
	TOH5	
Mean Value	$56.2 \; (sec)$	
sd	25.9	
n	14	
Confidence In- terval	Low	High
	43.34	72.89
CV	0.42	

For Task 2, *Time to Task* is defined as the result of the team human-robot, as shown in Eq. 4.3. This time is composed of the human's time (t_H) and the cobot's

time (t_C) .

$$Time \ to \ Task = t_H + t_C \tag{4.3}$$

Figure 4.6 shows the results obtained by each participant. It can be observed the time composition of the task.



Figure 4.6: *Time to Task* for Task 2.

For the statistical analysis we consider *Time to Task* equal to *Cycle Time* for the cobot, and t_H equal to *Wait time*, obtained directly from the cobot controller.

Table 4.11: Statistics times in Task2			
	Time to Task sec	$t_H \sec$	$t_R \sec$
mean value	108.9	17.05	90.58
standard devia- tion	4.8	4.5	2.5
n	14	14	14
Confidence In- terval			
Low	105.36	14.7	89.10
High	110.89	19.79	92.08
CV	0.04	0.25	0.027

Results in table Table 4.11 show a *Time to Task* of 108.9 sec as mean value. This corresponds to a percentile of 50%. CV value is 0.04, equivalent to 4% of variation. This is considered a low variation. For t_H the mean value is 17.05 sec, with CV 0.25 equivalent to 25%. In this case, this is considered a high variation, typical for human tasks. Finally, for t_C the mean value is 90.58 sec and CV is down to 0.027, equivalent to 2.7%, that is a minimum variation, as expected considering the high stability of the cobot.

System Usability Scale score results

Table 4.12 provides an overview of mean values, standard deviations, incomplete questionnaires and checking the coding of the questionnaires as well as reliability indices values (Cronbach's α) for the obtained measures.

1able 4.12	: Statistics	SUS scoring and	d reliability test.
Mean SUS Score	81.1		
sd	13.3		
Non-Blank	14	Coding Check	Values appear to be coded correctly from 1 to 5
Cronbach Al- pha	0.814	Internal Re- liability	Good

Table 4 19. Chatinting CUIC 1. 1.1. 1

Table 4.13 shows results about SUS, the interpretation in percentiles and a descriptive adjective of its value. The value of 81.1 qualifies the HRCWE as *Excellent* and the degree of acceptability as *Acceptable*.

Considering HRCWE as a hardware system, following the Sauro and Lewis classification, the benchmark of experience with hardware shows that a raw SUS score of 81.1 has a higher SUS score than 88.14% for Hardware.

The main value from SUS is providing the single total score. However, it is

Table 4.13: SUS results interpretation				
Raw score	\mathbf{SUS}	81.1	Percentil Rank	88.1%
SUS mark	Bench-	Hardware	Adjective	Excellent
			Grade (Bangor)	В
			Grade (Sauro&Lewis)	A-
			Acceptability	Acceptable

still necessary to look into detail the individual score for each statement [5]. This information in presented in Table 4.14. Caglarca [118] suggested taking into account individual evaluation by verifying the shape of a "five-pointed star" visualization. Hence, raw scores from Table 4.14 have been transformed into a radial chart, as shown in Figure 4.7. Caglarca also concluded that the more the five-pointed star looks, the more positive the usability will get. Although it tends to be a subjective assessment, it is worth noting that the five-pointed star shape is almost in perfect form as in this study.



Figure 4.7: Evaluation of the five-pointed star

	Statements	Raw Score
1	I think that I would like to use Workspace Col- lab (HRCWE) frequently.	3.86
2	I found Workspace Human-Robot Collab (HRCWE) unnecessarily complex.	1.64
3	I thought Workspace Human-Robot Collab (HRCWE) was easy to use.	4.29
4	I think that I would need the support of a technical person to be able to use Workspace Human-Robot Collab (HRCWE).	1.57
5	I found the various functions in Workspace Human-Robot Collab (HRCWE) were well in- tegrated.	4.0
6	I thought there was too much inconsistency in Workspace Human-Robot Collab (HRCWE).	2.07
7	I would imagine that most people would learn to use Workspace Human- Robot Collab (HRCWE) very quickly.	4.21
8	I found Workspace Human-Robot Collab (HRCWE) very cumbersome (awkward) to use.	1.50
9	I felt very confident using Workspace Human- Robot Collab (HRCWE).	4.29
10	I needed to learn a lot of things before I could get going with Workspace Human-Robot Collab (HRCWE).	1.43

Table 4.14: Responses to individual statements of the SUS

Performance of cobot

To finalize the experiment, with the data of *Cycle Time* and *Wait Time*, the KPIs of Per Efficiency and Per Utilization of the cobot are obtained to evaluate the performance of the Cobot in HWRCE. The Per Utilization is calculated as,

$$Per Utilization(participant) = \frac{\overline{Cycle Time} - \overline{Wait Time}}{\overline{Cycle Time}} * 100$$
(4.4)

The statistical analysis in Table 4.15, with a mean value of 83%, shows an Per Utilization greater than 80% in the use of cobot for task collaborative assembly.

10	4.15: Statistics of Pe	<u>r_Utilizati</u>	<u>on ior the c</u>	<u>odot in H</u>	NR
	Mean Value	83%			
	sd	0.03			
	n	14			
	Confidence In- terval	Low	High		_
		81%	85%		_
	Benchmark	80%	p-value	0.008	_

Table <u>4.15</u>: Statistics of *Per_Utilization* for the cobot in HWRCE.

The percentage value of the efficiency (Per Efficiency) is calculated considering the total time of a work cycle, in this case it was set at 900 sec.

$$Per Efficiency = \overline{NumberCyclesCompleted} * \frac{\overline{CycleTime}}{900} * 100$$
(4.5)

The statistical analysis of the PerEfficiency in Table 4.16 shows with a mean value of 84% an PerEfficiency higher than the 75% (p - value = 0.03) established as a reference in this experiment.

Mean Value	84%	
sd	0.13	
n	14	
Confidence In- terval	Low	High
	74%	96%
Benchmark	75%	p-value 0.03

Table 4.16: Statistics *Per Efficiency* of cobot in HWRCE.

4.3.2 Workload in HRCWE

As a result of the NASA-TLX questionnaire, the results shown in the following table are obtained Table 4.17 this shows the used markers with adjectives that qualify the mental workload (MWL) [36], where np TOH5 and np TOH5+CA are the number of participants versus the observed qualitative mental workload.

Mental Workload Range	Value	np TOH5	np TOH5+CA
Low	0-9	0	0
Medium	10 - 29	0	1
Somewhat High	30-49	5	2
High	50-79	12	13
Very High	80-100 1	2	

Table 4.17: The interpretation % score for the NASA TLX index.

4.3.3 Mental Workload Results

Descriptive statistics, t-test, and analysis of variance tests were used to analyze the effects of the experience. The statistical significance level was set at p < 0.05, and in all the cases, the confidence level is 5%. Data collected from both scenarios were gathered and are presented in the histogram in Figure 4.8

The distribution of the data obtained is not symmetric and they tend to accumulate in the areas with high mental workload. Six out of twelve participants perceived that the mental workload of the task TOH5 was high. Eight of twelve participants perceived that the mental workload of the main and secondary tasks TOH5+CA was high. Table 4.18 shows the obtained score for each scenario in terms of mean value and standard deviation. The mean values of the NASA TLX index score for both scenarios are very close, 59.11% and 60.17%, respectively. These scores are at the end of the first third of the range (High).



Figure 4.8: Histogram of participants' mental workload (MWL) for both scenarios.

Table 4.18: Results of NASA TLX Index Score.			
Statistics	TOH5	TOH5+CA	
Mean value	59.11	60.17	
sd	12.20	17.41	
Non-Blank	18	18	
Interpretation Score	High	High	

The hypothesis in this study is that when the operator performs the collaborative task with the robot (TOH5+CA, second scenario), the mental workload value is not very far from the mental workload of the main task (TOH5, first scenario). That is, a very little increment δ is expected,

$$MWL_{TOH5+CA} \sim MWL_{TOH5} + \delta \tag{4.6}$$

Moreover, both values would be in an intermediate comfort zone of mental workload; hence, they are not saturating the mental workload.

To test this hypothesis, a paired *t*-test was performed on the results obtained. The results in Table 4.19 show that there exists a p-value $\downarrow 0.02$ associated with the probability that the difference is greater than 10, so the null hypothesis is rejected, $\delta < 10$, and the alternative hypothesis is corroborated: certainly, there is only a small increase in MWL when the operator is moving from only one task to a dual task with a collaborative robot.

Table 4.19: Paired <i>t</i> -test.				
Confidence Level	95			
Null Hypothesis	Diff> 10			
Descriptive Statistics	-	Average Difference	1.06	
Mean Difference value	-1.10	Confidence Interval Low	-9.72	
Median Difference value	-8.00	Confidence Interval High	7.61	
sd	17.43	Margin Error	8.70	
n (sample size)	18	<i>p</i> -value	0.02	

The interpretation scores shown in Table 4.18 for the associated mental workload are in the low range of the label "High" (59.11 and 60.17) for both scenarios using the scale in Table 4.17. According to the cumulative frequency distributions of TLX Global Workload Scores by Task by Grier [30] (see Table 4.20), a common experimental mental workload score is related to cognitive tasks with a value of 64.90 as the maximum and 54.66 as within 75% of the results obtained in experiments with the TLX-Index. Hence, the results for scenarios TOH5 and TOH5+AC are in this range, indicating that the proposed tasks are actually high cognitive tasks, but they are not saturating the regular experiments on cognitive tasks.

Table 4.20: Cumulative frequency distributions of mental workload scores by task.

	Min	25%	50%	75%	Max
Cognitive Tasks	13.08	38.00	46.00	54.66	64.90

Figure 4.9 shows the distribution of the mean values of MWL for the different subscales. The mental demand is the subscale with the highest values for both scenarios, which is in accordance with the working conditions established for this study.

The results obtained for the subscales studied using the NASA TLX index are



Figure 4.9: Mean values of subscales in the NASA TLX index on the experiment.

shown in Table 4.21. The physical subscale shows a p-value ; 0.05, i.e., it is the only one showing significant statistical differences between both scenarios, while the other subscales do not. This is consistent with our hypothesis.

Table 4.21: Paired samples test for subscales of the NASA TLX index, TOH5 and TOH5+CA.

Subscale	Mean	Standard Dev.	<i>p</i> -Value
Mental	3.39	10.01	0.172
Physical	-2.11	2.66	0.004
Temporal	-1.15	10.03	0.633
Performance	-3.72	7.00	0.038
Effort	-1.07	8.39	0.594
Frustration	3.61	7.26	0.050

4.3.4 Task Performance Human-Robot Team

To consider the performance of the work performed by the human-robot team, the result of the task is presented through the *Effectiveness* and the *Fluency*

Effectiveness

This subsection shows the results for the effectiveness of the tasks developed in the Human–Robot Collaborative Workplace. The variable *Task Completion Rate* (TCR) is considered,

$$TCR = \frac{N_{sucsess}}{N_{replay}}\%$$
(4.7)

Table 4.22 shows the results for TCR when task TOH5 is solved in both scenarios. For Scenario 1, a low effectiveness is obtained (TCR = 44.44 %), while for Scenario 2, there is a 22 % of percent increase (TCR = 66.67 %) as a result of the experience obtained from Scenario 1.

Table 4.22: TCR results for TOH5 in both scenarios.

	Scenario 1 (TOH5)	Scenario 2
		(TOH5+A)
Nsuccess	8	12
Nreplay	18	18
TCR	44.44 %	66.67%
Difference	22.22%	

Table 4.23 shows the results for the effectiveness in the resolution of the TOH5 problem as well as in the collaboration in the CA assembly. The results show that the collaboration is carried out effectively, TCR = 94.44 %.

	TOH5	CA
Nsuccess	12	17
Nreplay	18	18
TCR	66.67 %	94.44%
Difference	27.77%	

Fluency

A measure able to evaluate the team's work is fluency. According to [42], fluency evaluation allows determining the performance as a team that the human–robot pair has. These metrics are percentage of concurrent activity (C-ACT), human's idle time (H-IDLE), robot's functional delay (F-DEL), and robot's idle time (R-IDLE). To calculate fluency, parameters shown in Table 4.24 were measured from the robot side. Values obtained are summarized in Table 4.25 in the form of mean values.

Parameter	Description
Idle_Time	Sum Robot wait time
Cycle_Time	Sum Robot work time
Shared_Time	Sum Shared Time to resolve task

Table 4.24: Time parameters from robot.

Statistics	$\mathbf{Cycle}_{-}\mathbf{Time}$	$\mathbf{Idle}_{-}\mathbf{Time}$	${\bf Shared_{-}Time}$
Mean value	626	117	34
sd	176	38	8
n	18	-	-

The fluency values are calculated as follows:

$$Time \ to \ Task = Cycle_Time + Idle_Time \tag{4.8}$$

$$H - IDLE = \frac{Cycle_Time}{Time \ to \ Task} \tag{4.9}$$

$$R - IDLE = \frac{Idle_Time}{Time \ to \ Task} \tag{4.10}$$

$$C - ACT = \frac{Shared_Time}{Time \ to \ Task} \tag{4.11}$$

Figure 4.10 allows to visualize the results from the calculation. It can be seen that the value for H-IDLE is much higher than the one for R-IDLE. Moreover, C-ACT gets a low value.



Figure 4.10: Objective fluency metrics in the Human-Collaborative Robot Workplace.

Chapter 5

Discussion

In this discussion we discuss the results obtained in the different stages of the research, we will first present the design using the FRAM methodology and the simulation, in the part of experimentation in the HRCWE, we will discuss about the usability, the cognitive load and the performance of the human-robot team.

5.1 Methodology for assistant

To start this discussion, the structure of the methodology resulting from the conception, design and evaluation of a 4.0 cognitive operator assistance system in a product assembly process is presented in Figure 5.1

This methodology basically consists of five steps, the most relevant features of which are presented in this discussion.

5.2 FRAM design and simulation

From the FRAM methodology (model, scenarios and identification of variability) and the simulation of the model (distribution function, discrete event simulation) it has been quantitatively checked that variability in the output of the system is directly



Figure 5.1: Methodology to follow in development to assistant in Human Robot Collaboration

related to the performance of the type of operator in the workplace. Now is time to convert these results into cognitive information, so the operator can organize her/his shift time, the supervisor can organize production. Eventually, According to this research, the robot could be equipped with an assistant-type module that could be used as an assistant to recommend some strategy to the operator or the supervisor in case some deviation in the actual production specifications is happening.

For this analysis the coefficients of variation defined in Equation 3.3 as the ratio between standard deviation and mean expressed as a percentage, are used for the operator human, the one introducing variability in time. Hence, CV_{TA} is calculated and displayed in Table 5.1 in reference to the time in activities (5) to complete the product, as the mean value, $CV_{TA} = \overline{\sigma_t}/\overline{mv_t}$.

Table 5.1: Results for the overall activity (Manual Assembly). Values are the mean for each the activities <u>related for the task</u>

Operator (H)	$\overline{mv_t}(s)$) $\overline{\sigma_t}(s)$	CV_{TA}
Expert	2.34	$0.07 \\ 0.09 \\ 0.10$	2.99
Standard	2.70		3.33
Novice	2.99		3.34

In Table 5.2, CV_{TT} represents the resulting variation in time for the assembly of the product. Values for mean and standard deviation are obtained from Table 4.4.

Operator (H)	$mv_t(s)$	$\sigma_t(s)$	CV_{TT}
Expert Standard	11.87 13.77	$0.43 \\ 0.57$	3.62
Novice	15.20	0.81	5.33

Next, for the *Time* variable the percentage of variation from mean time in task

and time in activity is obtained,

$$\% Var_t = \frac{CV_{TT}}{CV_{TA}} \tag{5.1}$$

It is shown in Table 5.3 the results obtained for variability at each scenario.

A similar percentage of variation is calculated for *Quality*, also shown in Table 5.3. In this case, it is assumed that parts are introduced into the system with the same distribution, independently from the operator in the activities. The coefficient of quality in input, CV_{QI} has the same value for all the cases, and the quality total of output is CV_{QT} , hence $\% Var_Q = CV_{QT}/CV_{QI}$.

Scen	arioOperator (H)	Operator (B)	CV_{TA}	CV_{TT}	%V ai	$r_t C V_{QI}$	CV_{QT}	$%Var_{0}$
	(11)	(10)						
1	\mathbf{Expert}		2.99	3.62	121.1	24.3	3.07	71.43
	Standard		3.33	4.14	124.1	84.3	3.79	97.93
	Novice		3.34	5.33	159.3	64.3	5.04	117.15
2		Optimized	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.3	3.97	92.43
		Basic	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.3	4.43	103.03
3	Expert	Optimized	2.99	2.28	76.46	4.3	3.13	72.85
	Standard		3.33	1.63	48.96	4.3	3.38	78.55
	Novice		3.34	3.47	103.9	24.3	4.34	100.97
3	Expert	Basic	2.99	1.63	54.56	4.3	3.02	70.24
	Standard		3.33	2.09	62.89	4.3	3.36	78.13
	Novice		3.34	4.02	120.3	14.3	4.29	99.79

Table 5.3: Relation of Coefficient of Variation for *Time* and *Quality*

5.2.1 General Remarks

As it can be see in Table 5.3, input variations are amplified through the system. Novice operators insert the greatest variation and therefore there is the greatest amplification. On the other hand, if the system activities are only executed by the robot, quality variability changes when moving from an optimized robot to a basic one, but not so much. The Human-Robot collaborative system presents less variability for time and quality with respect to a human only system. Moreover, this scenario increases the production. The assignment of activities can be optimized based on the information of the activity times employed and the functions performed, so dynamic assignment of functions is possible. For the assignment of activities, a strategy is employed based on system operating conditions that are favorable to the operator and that maintain acceptable levels of efficiency within the work shift. The activity assigner could consider transitioning from a novice operator to an expert operator and modify the assignment to achieve maximum efficiency of the HRC system.

5.2.2 Cognitive Agent Recommendation

Let's suppose our customer is asking for a batch of products such that at least 85% are high quality. According to the variability study performed, a fully manual task (Scenario 1) with Expert or Standard operators is providing for sure this result. It is impossible to get it for the Scenario 2, only considering a fully automated task. Finally, in the collaborative Scenario 3, again Expert or Standard operators should be considered. Hence, a first recommendation message is not to consider novice operators for this case. However, they could be considered in the case that the asked high quality percentage were 75%. A fully automated scenario could be also considered.

Looking at the percentage of variation for Quality, $\% Var_Q$ is not spreading in the Scenario 1 for Expert and Standard operator, so a Standard one can be considered without risks. In the case that the percentage of high quality products can be reduced to 75% a novice operator is not a good choice for the Scenario 1 because variation is increased to 117.15%. However, it can be considered in case that Scenario 3 is selected. If a cognitive assistance module were to be implemented a recommendation from this module would be, in case only novice operators are available in this moment for this task, to work in a collaborative Scenario 3. In this case, for example supervisor can provide autonomy to the novice operator selecting the basic or the optimized version of the cobot because percentage of high quality products will be similar and variation is also similar.

A similar study could be performed on the *Time* specification, depending on the customer specifications as well as the plant organization, in order to improve task effectiveness and productivity.

5.3 Usability on Human-Robot

From usability experimentation the feasibility of extrapolating the usability experience in HCI towards HRI is clearly defined along with this study: the context of use, requirements, workspace design, task allocation between human and robot, experimental testing, and validation steps.

In this study, with a *Task Completion rate* value of 78.6 in the effectiveness of the task 1, it can be considered that the human operator can effectively solve Task 1 in the HRCWE. To increase the effectiveness in this task, a first alternative is the incorporation of a training stage, and a second alternative could be the use of an assistant that considers assisting the operator when the real-time value of the *Task Completion rate* is lower than a minimum set value. For the second task, the value of the *Task Completion rate* shows that the human-robot team effectively solves the Task 2. However, a redesign of the physical architecture of HRWCE, in which the human operator is closer to the work area, could improve the efficiency of the work team.

The efficiency in Task 1, measured through the *Time to Task* with mean values of 56.2 seconds for Task 1 and 108.09 seconds for Task 2, places the efficiency between the low and standard level, with a higher accumulation towards the standard level. Hence, it can be considered that the human operator is able to efficiently solve the

tasks in the HRCWE.

The SUS score shows that the collaborative workspace is perceived as acceptable for working with humans, and the star chart proves that the performance of its components is balanced, as expected.

The evaluation carried out about HWRCE, through the KPIs, corroborate the capacity of the team human-robot, with values higher than 80% of Per Utilization and higher than 75% of Per Efficiency, and a value of *Task Completion rate* over 80%. The variability analysis show that the system is able to absorb the variability introduced by the human operator.

In order to improve the results obtained in the efficiency and effectiveness of the tasks within the HWRCE, adding the real-time variable *Difficulty Task*, which considers the variables *Task Completion rate* and *Time to Task*, could be used to work with an assistant to guide a strategy for solving the tasks.

Overall, the usability benchmark additionally demonstrates the flexibility of the human operator to work in conjunction with a cobot operator in collaborative assembly tasks within the HRCWE.

5.4 Cognitive workload

The use of the NASA TLX-index protocol has allowed us to perform a multidimensional assessment of the variation of the mental workload on the participant, in this case in the role of human operator/collaborative robot As established in the hypothesis of the study, it has been shown that there are no significant differences between the mental workload in the solution of the TOH5 problem and its solution when a collaborative task with a robot is added in the same workspace. Moreover, as the results show, the level of mental workload found in both scenarios is high without overloading the operator. In the results, it can be observed that no participant has indicated a level of underload in the mental workload, and according to the experience found with other experiments, the level of mental workload can be considered normal in cognitive tasks, such as the TOH5 of this study. It could be that a high level of mental workload is necessary to be alert and make decisions in time.

The NASA TLX-index considers that the first three subscales (mental, physical and temporal) correspond to the demands imposed on the operator. In this aspect, the results show that the mental demand is the largest subscale of the mental workload. However, as the results show, no significant differences were found between the scenarios. The physical subscale is the least contributing subscale; however, the results show that there are significant differences in both scenarios, which is consistent with the differences in the physical characteristics of the scenarios. The next three subscales (effort, frustration and performance) refer to the interaction of the participant with the workspace. In this aspect, the results show that there are significant differences in performance between the scenarios, which is a result of the demand of attention that the cobot imposes on the participant. The frustration subscale, according to the results, does not show significant differences; however, it is an important subscale in the resolution of the problem when the operator begins his experience in the experiment. The use of descriptive adjectives and multidimensional graphs allows stakeholders to have a representative perspective of the results obtained.

5.5 Task Performance of the Human-Cobot team

In relation to the performance of the tasks, the results show that human operators can solve the task TOH5 effectively (TCR = 66.67%). Additionally, the human-robot team working in the collaborative assembly task is also able of effectively solving the task (TCR = 94.44%).

Following the results of the objective metrics and based on [42], some considera-

tions can be presented. The measure H-IDLE relates the subjective perception of the human operator while waiting for the robot, e.g., wasting time or being bored. In this study, H-IDLE value remains at the same level, as shown in Figure 4.10, when the human operator develops Task 1 while waiting for the robot's request for collaboration; hence, it could be said that the human operator is taking advantage of his/her time.

Moreover, Hoffman relates the R-IDLE measure with fluency, establishing two possible conditions; either the robot is physically inactive but is doing internal work on its processor, or it is inactive while waiting for an intervention from the human operator. In our use case, the second condition is present, the robot starts its idle time by sending a message to the operators waiting for their collaboration and remains in this state until an operator informs it about the end of the collaboration. This collaboration time of the human operator is variable. In the subjective sense, this could be seen as either an inefficient use of the robot or an imbalance in the distribution of the task. In this study, the R-IDLE value is much lower than the H-IDLE value (see Figure 4.10), indicating that there is an efficient use of the robot. However, it could also indicate an imbalance in the distribution of the task.

Regarding C-ACT, Hoffman describes that a high value for this measure could indicate a subjective feeling of fluency when considering that the teams are well synchronized and that there is a similarity in the team members, perhaps a fair balance of work. In this study, the value for C-ACT is low from a physical point of view (see Figure 4.10). It could be considered an imbalance in the work. However, when considering a complete vision of the work capacities for each member, the distribution is fair in the sense that each member does what it does the best, i.e., the human operator undertakes more of the cognitive activity and the robot operator more of the physical activity.

For the measure F-DEL, it is established that a low level is related to the subjective perception of human–robot fluency since it indicates an efficient use of the time of
the team members. In this study, it can be seen that such F-DEL is not present (see Figure 4.10). The human operator's sensation would be of efficient work; however, it should be taken into account that for this task, the level of collaboration is also low.

Chapter 6

Conclusions

6.1 Conclusions

Today, synergy combinations are required to support the development of smart and cognitive solutions. Understanding of HCPS from socio-technical systems with the perspective of joint cognitive systems (JCS) shows in the first place the current ability to provide the operator with functions and tools that allow him to amplify his abilities, in particular the cognitive ones for which it can be seen that there are different cognitive tools , thanks to which cognitive solutions are capable of being applied.

The underlying idea is to combine the strengths of robots and humans: the physical strength, precision, and endurance of robots with human problem-solving skills and the ability to cope with new and unexpected situations, this combination together with a cognitive assistant brings in the symbiotic relationship between human operators and technological operators. The assistance systems are developed to be integrated into manufacturing processes so that production is more efficient, safer and more reliable.

The integration of the different technologies of operator assistance 4.0, require the operator to develop greater cognitive skills, so a cognitive assistant must first of all collaborate with the development of human values in the workplace, it must be integrated as an extension of the user, of the system, even of the industry itself, the functions of the operator.

As Sheridan [105] suggests there is a positive relationship between the predictability of the system and the amount of mental work exerted on the user. One of the incentives of developing such an assistance system is to reduce the mental workload of the worker in the workplace; this goal is difficult to achieve if the system has high variability, or the user may often have to guess "What is the automation doing now?". The identification of sources of variability presented in this work, associated with performance metrics, are a first step in the design of a system that assists human in tasks allocation (human operator, collaborative robot), identification of optimal production scenarios and gap reduction in the connectivity between plant and manufacturing execution systems, where it is important to analyze economical costs of possible production scenarios. The Discussion section explain in detail the relationship between different human operators (expert, standard, novice) and the percentage of variation (time to task, quality) in an assembly system (manual task, fully automated task, H-R collaborative task).

Next the assembly task was modeled taking into account that it may be subject to variations in quality and fluctuations in productivity due to working styles, and robot and operator expertise. The FRAM methodology was employed in this article as a first approach in this context.

The human-robot interaction, and in particular with a cobot, has the advantage of a high flexibility inherent in the human part and a high efficiency inherent in the technical part. In later stages this mixed flexibility could be considered through indicators to reach an improved symbiosis within the human-robot collaborative system. In this symbiosis, an advanced topic is to add a principle of failure analysis. In the FRAM methodology this study means to analyze how to maintain the same level of production when one part (human or robot) is working in abnormal situation and it is necessary to increase the workload of the other part. Finally, it would be also possible to add another module inside the cognitive agent with recommendations in safety critical systems.

This research introduces a methodological and systematic guide for experimenting and evaluating experiments related to human-robot interaction in assembly task workspace. Taking advantage of human center design (HFE), value sensitive design (VSD), usability in human-computer interaction, this experience has been expanded and adapted to the field of collaborative human-robot interaction to have a solid and well-founded basis for evaluating the collaborative workspace, where the human operator shares tasks with a robot. Reviewing and incorporating best practices from relations area, can reduce the number of testing iterations required and save time and money developing and evaluating a process or system.

In industry 4.0 real scenarios, the operator may be subject to task changes, task difficulty, task shared with a robot, and interruptions (for instance, noise) [13, 8]. In these cases, understanding the cognitive load types (intrinsic, extraneous, germane) and the relationship with mental workload could be useful for the improvement of the human information processing system, human performance and the effectiveness of the overall system [26, 86].

Understanding this human cognitive load will allow the design of smart assistant systems to help and support human operators in future cognitive manufacturing systems. Moreover, the vision of the performance of the human–robot team through fluency could be considered an additional component to improve the design of a help support system from the perspective of the human–robot team.

To ensure a high usability and performance, the assist system also needs to be designed in accordance to human factor engineering principles, value sensitive design, human design centered to ensure the well-being of the 4.0 operator. The participants in the experimental session show that it is possible to keep the mental workload under control while they are developing primary and secondary tasks. This feature could consider flexibility as an important parameter in the operator's condition.

In general, an operator's mental workload increases when he has to process the information presented in the workspace and make decisions based on it. Low complexity, highly integrated assistance systems could minimize operator distractions, i.e., the mental workload for the driver.

6.2 Future lines

The application and use of assistants alongside workers in the manufacturing industry can be an important and efficient strategy for companies to create added value in manufacturing and provide better employee welfare, assistants can also be used by companies to increase the attractiveness of jobs in manufacturing production and thus become a socially sustainable factory. The field of worker assistance systems is therefore a research sector that can have a positive impact on the company itself and, above all, on the indispensable operator in manufacturing.

Modern workplaces are located within production systems, in which communication between different levels of the company is mandatory. In this research work, the workplace has been analyzed as an isolated system. As a future work, communication with manufacturing execution system (MES type management systems) should be considered, towards a complete socio-technical system. Moreover, by transforming the information obtained from data in a real-world process into knowledge, it is possible to change the strategy of assignment of activities. An assistant could handle these strategies.

Further research is needed on how to design and evaluate system performance, usability and user experience in the industrial environment due to its specific requirements. Criteria need to be developed for these new human-robot team contexts in production where safety and performance criteria are adapted. This is a problem that will have to be solved in the future, once production assistance systems are more consolidated.

Bibliography

- Worker assistance systems in manufacturing: A review of the state of the art and future directions. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*, 59(December 2020):228– 250, 2021.
- [2] A. Adriaensen, R. Patriarca, A. Smoker, and J. Bergström. A socio-technical analysis of functional properties in a joint cognitive system: a case study in an aircraft cockpit. *Ergonomics*, 0(0):1–19, 2019.
- [3] T. Arai, R. Kato, and M. Fujita. Assessment of operator stress induced by robot collaboration in assembly. *CIRP Annals*, 59(1):5 – 8, 2010.
- [4] A. Bajcsy, D. P. Losey, M. K. O'Malley, and A. D. Dragan. Learning robot objectives from physical human interaction. In S. Levine, V. Vanhoucke, and K. Goldberg, editors, *Proceedings of the 1st Annual Conference on Robot Learning*, volume 78 of *Proceedings of Machine Learning Research*, pages 217–226. PMLR, 13–15 Nov 2017.
- [5] A. Bangor, P. T. Kortum, and J. T. Miller. An empirical evaluation of the system usability scale. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 24(6):574–594, 2008.
- [6] F. Belkadi, M. A. Dhuieb, J. V. Aguado, F. Laroche, A. Bernard, and F. Chinesta. Intelligent assistant system as a context-aware decision-making

support for the workers of the future. *Computers and Industrial Engineering*, (xxxx):105732, 2019.

- [7] E. Bellini, L. Coconea, and P. Nesi. A Functional Resonance Analysis Method Driven Resilience Quantification for Socio-Technical Systems. *IEEE Systems Journal*, 14(1):1234–1244, 2020.
- [8] D. Bläsing and M. Bornewasser. Influence of increasing task complexity and use of informational assistance systems on mental workload. *Brain Sciences*, 11(1), 2021.
- [9] S. Bouchard. Lean robotics: a guide to making robots work in your factory. *Robotics: Second Edition*, page 222, 2017.
- [10] J. Brooke. Sus: A retrospective. Journal of Usability Studies, 8(2):29–40, feb 2013.
- [11] J. J. Cañas. Ergonomía Cognitiva : El estudio del Sistema Cognitivo Conjunto. (January):1–20, 2003.
- [12] F. Caputo, A. Greco, M. Fera, and R. Macchiaroli. Digital twins to enhance the integration of ergonomics in the workplace design. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, 71:20 – 31, 2019.
- [13] A. V. Carvalho, A. Chouchene, T. M. Lima, and F. Charrua-Santos. Cognitive manufacturing in industry 4.0 toward cognitive load reduction: A conceptual framework. *Applied System Innovation*, 3(4), 2020.
- [14] A. Chacón, C. Angulo, and P. Ponsa. Developing cognitive advisor agents for operators in industry 4.0. In L. R. Martínez, R. A. O. Rios, and M. D. Prieto, editors, New Trends in the Use of Artificial Intelligence for the Industry 4.0, chapter 7. IntechOpen, Rijeka, 2020.

- [15] A. Chowdhury, A. Ahtinen, R. Pieters, and K. Vaananen. User Experience Goals for Designing Industrial Human-Cobot Collaboration: A Case Study of Franka Panda Robot. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2020.
- [16] E. Clarkson and R. C. Arkin. Applying heuristic evaluation to human-robot interaction systems, 2006.
- [17] A. W. Cowley. IUPS-a retrospective. The Physiologist, 49(3):171–173, 2006.
- [18] F. D. Davis. Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Quarterly, 13:319–340, 1989.
- [19] S. W. A. Dekker and D. D. Woods. Maba-maba or abracadabra? progress on human-automation co-ordination. *Cognition, Technology & Work*, 4(4):240– 244, 2002.
- [20] A. Di Nuovo, S. Varrasi, D. Conti, J. Bamsforth, A. Lucas, A. Soranzo, and J. McNamara. Usability evaluation of a robotic system for cognitive testing. In Proceedings of the 14th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction, HRI '19, page 588–589. IEEE Press, 2019.
- [21] J. Dregger, J. Niehaus, P. Ittermann, H. Hirsch-Kreinsen, and M. ten Hompel. The digitization of manufacturing and its societal challenges: a framework for the future of industrial labor. In 2016 IEEE international symposium on ethics in engineering, science and technology (ETHICS), pages 1–3. IEEE, 2016.
- [22] EUnited. Good work charter of the european robotics industry. Technical report, European Engineering Industries Association, 2021.

- [23] A. Fasth-Berglund and J. Stahre. Cognitive automation strategy for reconfigurable and sustainable assembly systems. Assembly Automation, 33(3):294–303, 2013.
- [24] S. M. Fiore and T. J. Wiltshire. Technology as teammate: Examining the role of external cognition in support of team cognitive processes. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7(OCT), 2016.
- [25] A. Fischbach, J. Strohschein, A. Bunte, J. Stork, H. Faeskorn-Woyke, N. Moriz, and T. Bartz-Beielstein. CAAI-A cognitive architecture to introduce artificial intelligence in cyber-physical production systems. arXiv, pages 609–626, 2020.
- [26] E. Galy, M. Cariou, and C. Mélan. What is the relationship between mental workload factors and cognitive load types? International Journal of Psychophysiology, 83(3):269–275, 2012.
- [27] L. Gazzaneo, A. Padovano, and S. Umbrello. Designing smart operator 4.0 for human values: A value sensitive design approach. *Proceedia Manufacturing*, 42(April):219–226, 2020.
- [28] R. Gervasi, L. Mastrogiacomo, and F. Franceschini. A conceptual framework to evaluate human-robot collaboration. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, 108:841–865, 05 2020.
- [29] D. Gorecky, M. Schmitt, M. Loskyll, and D. Zühlke. Human-machineinteraction in the industry 4.0 era. Proceedings - 2014 12th IEEE International Conference on Industrial Informatics, INDIN 2014, pages 289–294, 2014.
- [30] R. A. Grier. How high is high? A meta-analysis of NASA-TLX global workload scores. Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 2015-January:1727–1731, 2015.

- [31] M. P. Groover, M. Weiss, R. N. Nagel, and N. G. Odrey. Industrial Robotics : Technology, Programming, and Applications. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1986.
- [32] L. Gualtieri, R. A. Rojas, M. A. Ruiz Garcia, E. Rauch, and R. Vidoni. Implementation of a Laboratory Case Study for Intuitive Collaboration Between Man and Machine in SME Assembly, pages 335–382. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2020.
- [33] L. Gualtieri, R. A. Rojas, M. A. Ruiz Garcia, E. Rauch, and R. Vidoni. Implementation of a Laboratory Case Study for Intuitive Collaboration Between Man and Machine in SME Assembly, pages 335–382. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2020.
- [34] D. J. Hardy and M. J. Wright. Assessing workload in neuropsychology: An illustration with the tower of hanoi test. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 40(10):1022–1029, 2018.
- [35] C. E. Harriott, G. L. Buford, J. A. Adams, and T. Zhang. Mental workload and task performance in peer-based human-robot teams. J. Hum.-Robot Interact., 4(2):61—96, sep 2015.
- [36] S. G. Hart and L. E. Staveland. Development of NASA-TLX. Human Mental Workload. Advances in Psychology, (52):139–183, 1988.
- [37] G. Havur, K. Haspalamutgil, C. Palaz, E. Erdem, and V. Patoglu. A case study on the tower of hanoi challenge: Representation, reasoning and execution. In 2013 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA) (ICRA), pages 4552–4559, 2013.
- [38] T. Hazbar, S. Kumar, and F. Sahin. Cyber-physical testbed for human-robot collaborative task planning and execution. ArXiv, abs/1905.00199, 2019.

- [39] J. Heard, R. Heald, C. E. Harriott, and J. A. Adams. A diagnostic human workload assessment algorithm for collaborative and supervisory human-robot teams. J. Hum.-Robot Interact., 8(2), 2019.
- [40] L. M. Hiatt, A. M. Harrison, and J. G. Trafton. Accommodating human variability in human-robot teams through theory of mind. In *Twenty-Second International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 2011.
- [41] P. J. Hinds, T. L. Roberts, and H. Jones. Whose job is it anyway? a study of human-robot interaction in a collaborative task. *Human–Computer Interaction*, 19(1-2):151–181, 2004.
- [42] G. Hoffman. Evaluating fluency in human-robot collaboration. IEEE Transactions on Human-Machine Systems, 49:209–218, 2019.
- [43] G. Hoffman and C. Breazeal. Cost-based anticipatory action selection for human-robot fluency. *IEEE Transactions on Robotics*, 23(5):952–961, 2007.
- [44] J. Hollan, E. Hutchins, and D. Kirsh. Distributed cognition: Toward a new foundation for human-computer interaction research. ACM Trans. Comput.-Hum. Interact., 7(2):174–196, June 2000.
- [45] E. Hollnagel. The etto principle: Why things that go right sometimes go wrong. Farnham, UK: Ashgate, 2009.
- [46] E. Hollnagel. Prolegomenon to Cognitive Task Design. In Handbook of Cognitive Task Design, pages 3–15. 2010.
- [47] E. Hollnagel. FRAM: The functional resonance analysis method: Modelling complex socio-technical systems. Ashgate, 2012.
- [48] E. Hollnagel. FRAM: the functional resonance analysis method: modelling complex socio-technical systems. CRC Press, 2017.

- [49] E. Hollnagel and D. D. Woods. *Joint Cognitive Systems*. CRC Press, 2005.
- [50] P. Illankoon, P. Tretten, and U. Kumar. Modelling human cognition of abnormal machine behaviour. *Human-Intelligent Systems Integration*, 1(1):3–26, 2019.
- [51] E. T. S. Institute. Etsi guide: Human factors (hf); usability evaluation for the design of telecommunication systems, services and terminals. Standard ETSI EG 201472 2000, ETSI, Sophia Antipolis, 2000.
- [52] International Federation of Robotics. The impact of robots on productivity, employment and jobs. Positioning paper, International Federation of Robotics, Frankfurt, Germany, 2018.
- [53] ISO Central Secretary. Ergonomics General approach, principles and concepts. Standard ISO 26800:2011, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, CH, 2011.
- [54] ISO Central Secretary. Ergonomics of human-system interaction part 420: Selection of physical input devices. Standard ISO 9241-420:2011, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, CH, 2011.
- [55] ISO Central Secretary. Ergonomics principles in the design of work systems. Standard ISO 6385:2016, International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, CH, 2016.
- [56] A. T. Jones, D. Romero, and T. Wuest. Modeling agents as joint cognitive systems in smart manufacturing systems. *Manufacturing Letters*, 17(June):6–8, 2018.
- [57] E. Kaasinen, F. Schmalfuß, C. Özturk, S. Aromaa, M. Boubekeur, J. Heilala, P. Heikkilä, T. Kuula, M. Liinasuo, S. Mach, R. Mehta, E. Petäjä, and T. Wal-

ter. Empowering and engaging industrial workers with Operator 4.0 solutions. Computers and Industrial Engineering, 139(January 2019):105678, 2020.

- [58] B. A. Kadir, O. Broberg, and C. S. da Conceição. Current research and future perspectives on human factors and ergonomics in Industry 4.0. Computers and Industrial Engineering, 137(August):106004, 2019.
- [59] Kalmbach, Simon, Bargmann, Daniel, Lindblom, Jessica, Wang, Wei and Wang, Vincent. Symbiotic human-robot collaboration for safe and dynamic multimodal manufacturing systems. Technical Report 2018-06-21, Rob, 2018.
- [60] Y. C. Kim, W. C. Yoon, H. T. Kwon, Y. S. Yoon, and H. J. Kim. A cognitive approach to enhancing human-robot interaction for service robots. In M. J. Smith and G. Salvendy, editors, *Human Interface and the Management* of Information. Methods, Techniques and Tools in Information Design, pages 858–867, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2007. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [61] K. Kimble, K. Van Wyk, J. Falco, E. Messina, Y. Sun, M. Shibata, W. Uemura, and Y. Yokokohji. Benchmarking protocols for evaluating small parts robotic assembly systems. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters*, 5(2):883–889, 2020.
- [62] A. Kolbeinsson, E. Lagerstedt, and J. Lindblom. Foundation for a classification of collaboration levels for human-robot cooperation in manufacturing. *Produc*tion & Manufacturing Research, 7(1):448–471, 2019.
- [63] M. Krugh and L. Mears. A complementary Cyber-Human Systems framework for Industry 4.0 Cyber-Physical Systems. *Manufacturing Letters*, 15:89–92, 2018.
- [64] J. Krüger, T. K. Lien, and A. Verl. Cooperation of human and machines in assembly lines. CIRP Annals - Manufacturing Technology, 58:628–646, 2009.

- [65] P. A. Lasota, G. F. Rossano, and J. A. Shah. Toward safe close-proximity human-robot interaction with standard industrial robots. In 2014 IEEE International Conference on Automation Science and Engineering (CASE), pages 339–344, 2014.
- [66] S. Lemaignan, M. Warnier, E. A. Sisbot, A. Clodic, and R. Alami. Artificial cognition for social human-robot interaction: An implementation. Artificial Intelligence, 247:45 – 69, 2017. Special Issue on AI and Robotics.
- [67] J. R. Lewis. Usability testing, Handbook of Human Facto rs and Ergonomics. *Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley*, pages 1275–1316, 2006.
- [68] F. Longo, L. Nicoletti, and A. Padovano. Smart operators in industry 4.0: A human-centered approach to enhance operators' capabilities and competencies within the new smart factory context. *Computers and Industrial Engineering*, 113:144–159, 2017.
- [69] F. Longo, A. Padovano, and S. Umbrello. Value-oriented and ethical technology engineering in industry 5.0: A human-centric perspective for the design of the factory of the future. *Applied Sciences (Switzerland)*, 10(12):1–25, jun 2020.
- [70] A. M. Madni and M. Sievers. Model-based systems engineering: Motivation, current status, and research opportunities. Systems Engineering, 21(3):172–190, 2018.
- [71] A. A. Malik and A. Bilberg. Developing a reference model for human-robot interaction. International Journal on Interactive Design and Manufacturing, 13:1541–1547, 12 2019.
- [72] J. A. Marvel. Performance metrics of speed and separation monitoring in shared workspaces. *IEEE Transactions on Automation Science and Engineering*, 10:405–414, 2013.

- [73] J. A. Marvel, S. Bagchi, M. Zimmerman, M. Aksu, B. Antonishek, Y. Wang, R. Mead, T. Fong, and H. Ben Amor. Test methods and metrics for effective hri in collaborative human-robot teams. In 2019 14th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction (HRI), pages 696–697, 2019.
- [74] J. A. Marvel, S. Bagchi, M. Zimmerman, and B. Antonishek. Towards effective interface designs for collaborative hri in manufacturing: Metrics and measures. *J. Hum.-Robot Interact.*, 9(4), May 2020.
- [75] J. A. Marvel, J. Falco, and I. Marstio. Characterizing task-based human-robot collaboration safety in manufacturing. *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man,* and Cybernetics: Systems, 45(2):260–275, 2015.
- [76] B. Masó, P. Ponsa, and S. Tornil. Diseño de tareas persona-robot en el ámbito académico. Interacción, Revista digital de AIPO, 2:26–38, 09 2020.
- [77] A. B. Moniz and B.-J. Krings. Robots working with humans or humans working with robots? searching for social dimensions in new human-robot interaction in industry. *Societies*, 6(3), 2016.
- [78] R. Müller and L. Oehm. Process industries versus discrete processing: how system characteristics affect operator tasks. *Cognition, Technology and Work*, 21(2):337–356, 2019.
- [79] E. Muñoz-de Escalona, J. J. Cañas, and J. F. Morales-Guaman. Fundamental frequency as an alternative method for assessing mental fatigue. In L. Longo and M. C. Leva, editors, *Human Mental Workload: Models and Applications*, pages 58–75, Cham, 2020. Springer International Publishing.
- [80] R. R. Murphy and D. Schreckenghost. Survey of metrics for human-robot interaction. In 2013 8th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction (HRI), pages 197–198, 2013.

- [81] B. Mutlu, N. Roy, and S. Sabanović. Cognitive Human-Robot Interaction, pages 1907–1934. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2016.
- [82] J. Nelles, S. Kuz, A. Mertens, and C. M. Schlick. Human-centered design of assistance systems for production planning and control. *Proceedings 2016 Ieee International Conference on Industrial Technology (Icit)*, pages 2099–2104, 2016.
- [83] C. Nemeth. Erik hollnagel: Fram: The functional resonance analysis method, modeling complex socio-technical systems. *Cognition, Technology & Work*, 15(1):117–118, 2013.
- [84] S. Nwanya, C. Achebe, O. Ajayi, and C. Mgbemene. Process variability analysis in make-to-order production systems. *Cogent Engineering*, 3(1), 2016.
- [85] Z. M. C. Orhan Korhan Mohamad Fallaha. Operator 40 and cognitive ergonomics.pdf. 2017.
- [86] G. Orru and L. Longo. Direct and constructivist instructional design: A comparison of efficiency using mental workload and task performance. In L. Longo and M. C. Leva, editors, *Human Mental Workload: Models and Applications*, pages 99–123, Cham, 2020. Springer International Publishing.
- [87] M.-P. Pacaux-Lemoine, Q. Berdal, C. Guérin, P. Rauffet, and C. Chauvin. Designing human–system cooperation in industry 4.0 with cognitive work analysis: a first evaluation. *Cognition, Technology & Work*, 01 2021.
- [88] A. C. Pereira and F. Romero. A review of the meanings and the implications of the Industry 4.0 concept. *Proceedia Manufacturing*, 13:1206–1214, 2017.
- [89] A. Pervez and J. Ryu. Safe physical human robot interaction-past, present and future. Journal of Mechanical Science and Technology, 22:469–483, 01 2011.

- [90] S. Pfeiffer. Robots, industry 4.0 and humans, or why assembly work is more than routine work. *Societies*, 6(2), 2016.
- [91] M. A. Piera. Modelado y simulación. Aplicación a procesos logísticos de fabricación y servicios. Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya. Iniciativa Digital Politècnica, 2004.
- [92] C. Prinz, D. Kreimeier, and B. Kuhlenkötter. Implementation of a Learning Environment for an Industrie 4.0 Assistance System to Improve the Overall Equipment Effectiveness. *Proceedia Manufacturing*, 9:159–166, 2017.
- [93] K. M. Rabby, M. Khan, A. Karimoddini, and S. X. Jiang. An effective model for human cognitive performance within a human-robot collaboration framework. In 2019 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man and Cybernetics (SMC), pages 3872–3877, 2019.
- [94] E. Rauch, C. Linder, and P. Dallasega. Anthropocentric perspective of production before and within industry 4.0. Computers & Industrial Engineering, 2019. In Press.
- [95] P. Rauffet, C. Chauvin, G. Morel, and P. Berruet. Designing sociotechnical systems: A CWA-based method for dynamic function allocation. ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, 01-03-Jul-2015, 2015.
- [96] D. Romero, P. Bernus, O. Noran, J. Stahre, and Berglund. The operator 4.0: Human cyber-physical systems & adaptive automation towards humanautomation symbiosis work systems. *IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology*, 488:677–686, 2016.
- [97] D. Romero, P. Bernus, O. Noran, J. Stahre, and Å. F. Fast-Berglund. The operator 4.0: Human cyber-physical systems & adaptive automation towards

human-automation symbiosis work systems. In *IFIP Advances in Information* and *Communication Technology*, volume 488, pages 677–686. 2016.

- [98] S. Rubio, E. Díaz, J. Martín, and J. M. Puente. Evaluation of Subjective Mental Workload: A Comparison of SWAT, NASA-TLX, and Workload Profile Methods. *Applied Psychology*, 53(1):61–86, 2004.
- [99] A. Sanchez-Salas, Y. Goh, and K. Case. Identifying variability key characteristics for automation design – a case study of finishing process. In *Proceedings of* the 21st International Conference on Engineering Design (ICED 17), volume 4: Design Methods and Tools, pages 21–30, 2017.
- [100] J. Sauro and J. R. Lewis. Quantifying the user experience. Practical statistics for user research. MK Morgan Kaufmann, 2016.
- [101] L. Scalera, A. Giusti, R. Vidoni, V. Di Cosmo, D. T. Matt, and M. Riedl. Application of dynamically scaled safety zones based on the ISO/TS 15066:2016 for collaborative robotics. *International Journal of Mechanics and Control*, 21(1):41–49, 2020.
- [102] J. Scholtz. Theory and evaluation of human robot interactions. Proceedings of the 36th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, HICSS 2003, April 2003.
- [103] V. Seidita, A. Chella, F. Lanza, A. Chella, and V. Seidita. A cognitive architecture for human-robot teaming interaction. In AIC 2018 Artificial Intelligence and Cognition 2018 Proceedings of the 6th International Workshop on Artificial Intelligence and Cognition, pages 82–89, 2019.
- [104] T. B. Sheridan. Telerobotics, automation, and human supervisory control. MIT press, 1992.

- [105] T. B. Sheridan. Supervisory Control, chapter 38, pages 1025–1052. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2006.
- [106] M. Sony and S. Naik. Industry 4.0 integration with socio-technical systems theory: A systematic review and proposed theoretical model. *Technology in Society*, 61:101248, 2020.
- [107] M. Soria-Oliver, J. S. López, and F. Torrano. Relations between mental workload and decision-making in an organizational setting. *Psicologia: Reflexão e Crítica*, 30,7(7), 2018.
- [108] A. Steinfeld, T. W. Fong, D. Kaber, J. Scholtz, A. C. Schultz, and M. Goodrich. Common metrics for human-robot interaction. In *First ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction*, Salt Lake City, 03/2006 2006. ACM, ACM.
- [109] M. Szegedy. In how many steps the k peg version of the towers of hanoi game can be solved. Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics), 1563:356– 361, 1999.
- [110] Tekniker, Pilz and ZEMA. Definition and guidelines for collaborative workspaces. Technical Report GA number 637095, FourByThree, 2017.
- [111] G. Teo, G. Matthews, L. Reinerman-Jones, and D. Barber. Adaptive aiding with an individualized workload model based on psychophysiological measures. *Human-Intelligent Systems Integration*, 2019.
- [112] P. Tsarouchi, A.-S. Matthaiakis, S. Makris, and G. Chryssolouris. On a humanrobot collaboration in an assembly cell. *International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, 30(6):580–589, 2017.

- [113] Universal Robots. User Manual UR3/CB3. Version 3. edition, 2015.
- [114] Z. Ustunel and T. Gunduz. Human-robot collaboration on an assembly work with extended cognition approach. Journal of Advanced Mechanical Design, Systems, and Manufacturing, 11(5):1–11, 2017.
- [115] G. Veruggio and F. Operto. Roboethics: Social and Ethical Implications of Robotics, pages 1499–1524. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2008.
- [116] G. H. Walker, N. A. Stanton, P. M. Salmon, and D. P. Jenkins. A review of sociotechnical systems theory: a classic concept for new command and control paradigms. *Theoretical issues in ergonomics science*, 9(6):479–499, 2008.
- [117] W. Wang, Y. Chen, R. Li, and Y. Jia. Learning and comfort in human-robot interaction: A review. Applied Sciences, 9(23), 2019.
- [118] Y. Wang. System Usability Scale: A Quick and Efficient User Study Methodology[Internet]. http://ixd.prattsi.org/2018/04/system-usability-scale-a-quickand-efficient-user-study-methodology/, 2018.
- [119] K. S. Welfare, M. R. Hallowell, J. A. Shah, and L. D. Riek. Consider the human work experience when integrating robotics in the workplace. In 2019 14th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction (HRI), pages 75–84, March 2019.
- [120] S. Weyer, M. Schmitt, M. Ohmer, and D. Gorecky. Towards Industry 4.0
 Standardization as the crucial challenge for highly modular, multi-vendor production systems. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 48(3):579–584, 2015.

- [121] C. Wittenberg. Human-CPS Interaction requirements and human-machine interaction methods for the Industry 4.0. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 49(19):420–425, 2016.
- [122] X. Xia and W. Zhu. Evaluation for the stability variation of the manufacturing process based on fuzzy norm method. In 2016 12th International Conference on Natural Computation, Fuzzy Systems and Knowledge Discovery (ICNC-FSKD), pages 1057–1064, 2016.
- [123] A. M. Zanchettin, A. Casalino, L. Piroddi, and P. Rocco. Prediction of human activity patterns for human-robot collaborative assembly tasks. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, 15(7):3934–3942, 2019.
- [124] T. Zazelenchuk, K. Sortland, A. Genov, S. Sazegari, and M. Keavney. Using participants' real data in usability testing: Lessons learned. In CHI '08 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI EA '08, page 2229–2236, New York, NY, USA, 2008. Association for Computing Machinery.

Appendix A

Appendix

A.1 Participants Selection

We need 30 participants in total. Each session lasts ;25; minutes. We must have a candidate's completed screener at least one day in advance of the session, so we know which experimental group to assign him or her to.

• Introduction:

This experiment is part of a research project related to Human Robot Interaction (HRI), the basic objective is to determine the variation of mental load on the operator when a collaborative task with a robot is added.

- Selection questions:
 - 1. The participant is familiar with information and communication technologies.
 - 2. The participant is interested in the use of robotics and its applications.
 - 3. Participant feels confident working with a moving robot.
 - 4. Participant would like to help in this research.
- Exclusion questions:

- 1. The participant is of legal age
- 2. The participant feels insecure working with automatic machines.
- Experience Questions
 - 1. Do you have experience in programming or using robots?
 - 2. Have you participated in projects related to mind uploading?
 - 3. Do you have experience playing the towers of Hanoi, in real physical format or in its digital version?

A.2 Statement of informed consent. Consent form

TITLE: Usability Test in the Human Robot Collaborative Workspace

PROTOCOL DIRECTOR: Phd. student Alejandro Chacón.

DESCRIPTION: You have been invited to participate in a study that aims to improve the tasks performed by operators and cobots in workspaces within factories.

The facilitator gives you the instruction (Development of the game Hanoi's Tower and the collaboration with the robot in the assembly of the product)

TIME INVOLVEMENT: Your participation will take approximately 15 minutes

- **RISKS AND BENEFITS:** There aren't risks in this study. The benefits are only for academic purposes. Your decision whether or not to participate in this study will not affect your grades in school.
- **PAYMENTS:**You will not receive anything as payment for your participation. In fact, you will receive feedback about the experimental session.
- **SUBJECT'S RIGHTS:** If you have read this form and have decided to participate in this project, please understand your participation is voluntary and you have the right to withdraw your consent or discontinue participation at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. The

alternative is not to participate. You have the right to refuse to answer particular questions. Your individual privacy will be maintained in all published and written data resulting from the study.

CONTACT INFORMATION:

Questions: If you have any questions, concerns or complaints about this research, its procedures, risks and benefits, contact the Protocol Director, Alejandro Chacón, luis.alejandro.chacon@upc.edu.

I give consent for my identity to be revealed in written materials resulting from this study only inside the class with my teacher and colleagues: Please initial: _Yes _ No

The extra copy of this consent form is for you to keep.

SIGNATURE DATE

A.3 Case Study

Two different task are defined on these scenario, with different conditions and operating characteristics, as shown in Table A.1. Each participant participates in two tasks, being always the task1 the first one. One iteration of scenario is performed for each operator for 15'.

The objective for the participant in the TOH5 throuble is to perform as many repetitions as possible. The number of movements and the time of each repetition are recorded by the participant in a data table as A.2

The second task, Assembly is related with responding to requests for collaboration from the robot, which are indicated by the green light of the beacon in the area of assembly. Both, time that human takes to place caps defined as Wait Time and

	Task	Performance	Time
1	TOH5	Maximum num- ber of TOH5 game replays with 31 moves	
2	CA	At least 7 Cycles Work completed	15 minutes

ntal . .

Cycle time are recorded in a data table as A.2, jointly with figures for Task 1 when the operator is in the scenario 2. In the assembly task, the activities of the participant, are:

- performing quality control of the assembly process
- place the caps on the sub-assembly zone
- refill the base and bearing warehouses

Table A.2: Scenario . Task 1 & Task 2: Resolve TOH5 & Collaborate with cobot (CA)

Operator	Cobot	
$\begin{array}{c} {\rm Time} \\ {\rm ReplayN_moves \ to} & {\rm Task} \\ {\rm (sec)} \end{array}$	Wait Cycle Time (sec)	Cycle Time (sec)
1	1	

At the end of the experiment the participant answers, the System Usability Scale (SUS) as a satisfaction questionnaire

Demonstrations A.4

The main facilitator shows the participant the two areas and how the tasks are performed, in particular highlighting the activities that the operator must perform.

A.4.1 TOH5

By using the app's own functions, the facilitator shows once how to solve the game with the least number of moves, see Figure A.1.



Figure A.1: TOH5 - Solver

A.4.2 Assembly

The facilitator shows a complete work cycle, indicating the activities that the operator must perform: place the caps, click on the teach pendant, and reload stores, as well as the meaning of the lights on the indicator tower, see Figure A.2.



Figure A.2: Demonstration Assembly Cycle Work Human-Robot